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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors’) of GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report
misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GET
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, referred to
as the “Group”), | would like to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”) together with its strategies and
prospects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$21,335,000 for the Year
(2022: loss of approximately HK$1,388,000).

The Group’s consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$23,415,000 for the Year (2022: loss of
approximately HK$8,059,000).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year
(2022: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the Software Business, the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the B2C Online
Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business, and the Securities
Investment Business (all as defined below). The global macro-economic
environment with growing uncertainties has brought volatility to global
economy and business activities, which has adversely impacted on the
business operations of the Group.

Sparing no effort in innovating and upgrading products, the Group
continued to actively develop the Software Business, one of the Group’s
pillar businesses, during the Year to keep up with challenges and drive the
business forward. The Group has constantly reviewed and upgraded various
software products during the Year in order to keep up with the fast-changing
information technology (“.T.”) and to provide a seamless experience to the
software product users. During the Year, the Software Business remained
as the key source of income of the Group and accounted for approximately
88.6% of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETEHS
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETEHBS

We optimised our business strategies through the Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, and the Securities Investment Business.
We continued to diversify our business operations with a view to developing a
strong and resilient operation model to our shareholders. During the Year, the
revenue from the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business accounted for approximately 11.3% of the Group’s total turnover.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$83,976,000 and net current
assets of approximately HK$83,650,000. Based on the solid financial
position, the Group will remain cautious in looking for and evaluating business
opportunities with growth potential. It will continue to strategically invest its
capital with the aim of generating long-term and stable revenue and achieving
further business diversification, thereby delivering the best returns to the
Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, despite the challenging business environment as well
as the complicated socio-economic environment, the Group is cautiously
optimistic about the future market conditions and will endeavour at its best to
capture stable business growth and return. The Group will strive to maintain
an appropriate balance between risk and return by continuing to effectively
allocate its resources to expand its core businesses and, at the same time,
to keep exploring new business opportunities and identify quality investments
with good potentials.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all our business partners, the Shareholders and customers for
their continuing trust and support in the past year. | would also like to extend
my sincere gratitude to all staff of the Group and members of the Board for
their dedication and devotion during 2023.

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

22 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Software Business

During the Year, the business of research, development and distribution of
personal computer (“PC”) performance software, anti-virus software, mobile
phone applications and toolbar advertisements (“Software Business”) of
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$81,847,000 (2022:
approximately HK$85,770,000), representing a decrease of approximately
4.6% as compared to that of 2022. The segment loss of the Software
Business amounted to approximately HK$8,382,000 (2022: profit of
approximately HK$22,638,000). Such results were primarily attributable to
the decrease in revenue and net profit margins in this segment due to the
fierce competition in the software industry as well as the impairment loss
on goodwill in relation to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) of the Software
Business (‘Impairment Loss on Goodwill”) of approximately HK$18,000,000
(2022: HKS$NIl) and impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately
HK$6,638,000 (2022: HK$NIl). As at 31 December 2023, with reference to the
assessment by an independent professional valuer, the recoverable amount of
the CGU of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Boom Max Group”) is valued at approximately HK$169,168,000. Details
of the valuation are set out in the sub-section headed “Update on Material
Asset Impairment” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report and note 22(a) of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements as set out in this annual report.

During the Year, the Group has continued to strengthen its foothold in the
software industry through the Boom Max Group, the operating unit of the
Group carrying on the Software Business, which is one of the main revenue
streams of the Group. The Boom Max Group continues to offer a wide variety
of software products including computer optimisation, malware prevention,
gaming performance boosting, driver update, data and files protection
software, with an aim to help our computer software users to combat
cybersecurity threats and to reach the maximum computer optimisation.

We insist on the innovation capabilities and customer satisfaction of the Boom
Max Group. Over the years, we have been investing in the research and
development (“R&D”) team which comprises experts dedicating their focus to
network security, building software products and marketing channels. During
the Year, the R&D team has revamped our products in order to accommodate
to the latest trend of the I.T. industry and provide the best seamless experience
to our software users against computer malwares, network security loophole,
and computer optimisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREw R

During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Boom Max Group launched new
updates on our products, such as the flagship product Advanced SystemCare
17 and the anti-hacker software, namely IObit Malware Fighter 11. Over the
Year, the Boom Max Group upgraded new versions of other software products
as well, including I0bit Uninstaller, a product featuring function to uninstall
unwanted software or apps and provide our software customers with clean,
light and safe personal computer experience; and I0bit Software Updater, a
product designed to combat possible security loopholes while maximising
computer optimisation and enhance safe and reliable software installation
experience to our software users. New updates on Smart Defrag and 10bit
Uninstaller further boost faster and cleaner computer experience for our
software users. In the coming year, we will continue our devotion in developing
new upgrades to our software products, with a view to keeping abreast with
the latest technology trend and enhance user experience.

During the Year, the Boom Max Group continued to build and reinforce
its sales and distribution channels, including the implementation of
digital marketing campaigns in software products promotion. Apart from
strengthening its customer base in traditional markets, the Group has
continued to explore business opportunities and expand distribution channels
in the emerging markets such as countries in the Asia-Pacific region. In
addition, our software products are available at www.iobit.com, or other
software downloading directory websites and affiliated websites. New versions
of our software products are available for downloading on the website in
different languages, such as English, Spanish, French, Chinese and Dutch. As
at 31 December 2023, according to the internal sales data of the Boom Max
Group, its products had more than 42 million (2022: more than 50 million) new
users in total, including new non-paying and active paying users (i.e. users
who had subscribed our products at least once during the Year).

The global economy is recovering. In the meantime, the changes in customer
behaviours of computer users in post-pandemic era, fierce competition in the
I.T. industry, inflation concerns, geopolitical pressure and Russia-Ukraine war
may pose uncertainties to the overall economic activities and this segment
in the coming year. It is hard to quantify future impacts of the pandemic in
this segment. The Board will continue to closely monitor the performance of
this segment and the potential impacts from the pandemic. Looking ahead,
the Boom Max Group will continue to focus on exploring new technological
applications in realm and enhancing its software products.
strengthen and expand its distribution and sales channels by cooperating
closely with local dealers and affiliates.

It will also
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business

During the Year, the Group provided corporate management solutions, I.T.
contract services, network infrastructure solutions, network professional
services and I.T. project implementation services (“Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business”) to corporate clients mainly
in Hong Kong, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Wafer Systems
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).

During the Year, revenue from this business segment was approximately
HK$10,391,000 (2022: approximately HK$15,169,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 31.5% as compared with that of 2022. This
business segment recorded a profit of approximately HK$483,000 for the Year
(2022: profit of approximately HK$1,373,000). Such a decrease in profit was
primarily attributable to the keen competition in the I.T. industry.

During the Year, the growing macro-economic uncertainties have caused
disruptions to the Hong Kong economy, pressuring on the sales activities
of this segment. Coupled with the severe competition in the I.T. industry in
Hong Kong, the market condition of this business segment is expected to
remain challenging in the coming year. The Group will endeavour to expand its
customer base in order to improve the financial performance of this segment.
In the meantime, the Group’s management will continue to pay close attention
to the prospect of this business segment.

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

During the Year, revenue derived from this business segment was
approximately HK$122,000 (2022: approximately HK$5,089,000). The
segment loss of this business for the Year was approximately HK$978,000
(2022: loss of approximately HK$3,806,000). Such results were primarily due
to the scaling down of this business segment since the second half of 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERE Rk

The Group is committed to enhancing the lifestyle of its customers through
developing online and offline sales channels to offer quality products to
customers around the world. During the Year, the Group engaged in the
operation of the business-to-customer online sales platform (‘B2C Online
Sales Platform”), focusing on offering quality electronic lifestyle products to
international customers.

Headwinds of the volatile market environment have been posing challenges
to this business segment. Looking ahead, the Board will continue to carefully
review and pay close attention to the performance of this business segment
in exercising prudent cost control and credit risks control and maintaining an
appropriate balance of risks and opportunities.

Securities Investment Business

During the Year, the Group recorded a segment loss for the securities
investment business (“Securities Investment Business”) of approximately
HK$944,000 (2022: loss of approximately HK$6,517,000). The segment
loss was primarily attributable to the net fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL Financial Assets”) of approximately
HK$1,109,000 for the Year (2022: fair value loss of approximately
HK$6,604,000).

Global geopolitical tensions, change of governments’ policies, and the
social and economic conditions of the post-pandemic era had brought
instabilities to the Hong Kong financial market over the Year. Looking forward,
the change of governments’ policies, market liquidity and the inflation
expectation will continue to have impacts on the Hong Kong financial market
and its sentiment. The Group will continue to explore potential investment
opportunities and closely monitor the Hong Kong securities market as well as
the performance of the Securities Investment Business.

As at 31 December 2023, fair value of the FVTPL Financial Assets and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI
Financial Assets”) of the Group were approximately HK$23,125,000 (31
December 2022: approximately HK$24,037,000) and approximately
HK$1,013,000 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$1,040,000)
respectively, consisting of eight (2022: eight) investment items, six of which are
shares listed on the Stock Exchange, one of which is shares delisted on the
Stock Exchange on 4 May 2021 and the remaining one is shares of an unlisted
company. As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of each of the FVTPL
Financial Assets and the FVTOCI Financial Assets contributed less than 5% of
the Group’s total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, revenue of the Group was approximately HK$92,360,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 12.9% as compared to the revenue
of approximately HK$106,028,000 for 2022. The revenue of the Group for
the Year was mainly contributed by the revenue of (i) the Software Business
of approximately HK$81,847,000; (i) the Corporate Management Solutions
and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$10,391,000; and
(i) the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of
approximately HK$122,000.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the Year decreased by approximately
6.6% to approximately HK$67,992,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$72,812,000 for 2022.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group were approximately HK$100,000 for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 30.6% from approximately
HK$144,000 for 2022.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$21,335,000 for the
Year (2022: net loss of approximately HK$1,388,000). The net loss for the
Year was mainly the combined effects of () segment loss of the Software
Business of approximately HK$8,382,000 (2022: profit of approximately
HK$22,638,000), including the impairment loss on goodwill and intangible
asset of approximately HK$18,000,000 (2022: HK$Nil) and approximately
HK$6,638,000 (2022: HK$NIl) respectively; (i) segment loss of the
Securities Investment Business of approximately HK$944,000 (2022:
loss of approximately HK$6,517,000); (i) segment profit of the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately
HK$483,000 (2022: profit of approximately HK$1,373,000); (iv) segment
loss of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of
approximately HK$978,000 (2022: loss of approximately HK$3,806,000); and
(v) other corporate expenses of approximately HK$12,176,000 incurred during
the Year (2022: approximately HK$11,987,000).

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$23,415,000 for the Year as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$8,059,000 for 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$83,976,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$71,222,000), which were principally denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (2022: United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi). During the Year, the Group generally
financed its operations with internal resources and there was no significant
change in its capital structure.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any loan from financial
institution (31 December 2022: approximately HK$600,000).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$272,946,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$301,537,000) and total liabilities of approximately HK$53,672,000 (31
December 2022: approximately HK$55,672,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 19.7%
as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately 18.5%).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend any payment of dividend for the Year (2022:
Nil).

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately
US$82,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$634,000) (31 December 2022:
approximately US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$630,000)) for
securing banking facilities of HK$500,000 (31 December 2022: HK$500,000)
granted to the Group. The pledged bank deposits were denominated in United
States dollars with a term of six months at fixed interest rate of 1.05% per
annum.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had undrawn banking facilities of
approximately HK$385,000 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$304,000).

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any
margin trading account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISK FACTORS
Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Year, business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi. The United States
dollar is the main currency for transactions made by the Group. Since the
Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the United States dollar within a defined
range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk
against the United States dollar. The Group has not entered into any foreign
exchange contract as hedging measures. The Directors did not consider
the Group as being exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risk. Notwithstanding the above, the Group continues to manage its foreign
currency risk against other currencies by closely monitoring movement of
exchange rates and may use hedging derivatives, such as foreign currency
forward contracts, as and when appropriate.

Financial Risk

The total assets of the Group of approximately HK$272,946,000 as at
31 December 2023 mainly included intangible assets of approximately
HK$109,588,000, goodwill of approximately HK$42,525,000, the FVTPL
Financial Assets of approximately HK$23,125,000 and the FVTOCI Financial
Assets of approximately HK$1,013,000. The Group’s FVTOCI Financial Assets
and FVTPL Financial Assets are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk
due to fluctuation of the fair value of the FVTOCI Financial Assets and the
FVTPL Financial Assets. The Directors regularly review exposure of the Group’s
FVTOCI Financial Assets and FVTPL Financial Assets to equity security price
risk. Moreover, the Directors closely monitor the financial performance and
operation of cash generating units containing goodwill and intangible assets,
and conduct impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets annually
and more frequently should there be any unforeseeable events or changes in
circumstances pointing to potential impairment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Operation Risk

The Group is exposed to the corresponding operation risks which each of its
business divisions faces. To manage those risks, the management of each
business division is responsible for monitoring the operation of their respective
divisions and assessing related operation risks. They are responsible for
implementing the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall
report any irregularities in connection with operation of projects to the Directors
and seek directions.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly attributable to its trade and other
receivables. Please refer to note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report for details of the credit risk of the Group for the
Year. The trade and other receivables of the Group were approximately
HK$11,744,000 as at 31 December 2023. During the Year, the receivables
collection may be affected by the overall market environment caused by
the remaining adverse effects of pandemic and geopolitical instability. To
minimise credit risk, the Directors continue to closely monitor the overall level
of credit exposure, whereas the management is responsible for determining
credit approvals and monitoring the implementation of collection procedure
to ensure follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of individual trade debt at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LITIGATIONS
Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth Limited (“Perfect Growth”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, received an amended writ of summons
(“Amended Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“Convoy Global”) (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd
Plaintiff”) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as
the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th
defendant (“Perfect Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of
the defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged Independent Placees
(being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around
October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”) and was allotted with some shares of
the 1st Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs against
Perfect Growth are as follows:

0] the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against, among
others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the 1st Plaintiff’s shares to,
among others, Perfect Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is
null and void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for payment
of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation to be assessed
and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful
means conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against, among
others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other matters, the October
2015 Placing and the allotment of the 1st Plaintiff's shares pursuant to
the same; and

(i)  the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a) general
or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further and/or other
reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the Amended
Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect Growth’s defence.
The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its reply to each of the other defendants’
defence, and as such the pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not
been closed yet.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

%ii,ﬁ a¥ o &ﬁ*ﬁ'

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. Treasury activities are
centralised and the Group normally invests in portfolios comprising diverse
products. It has guidelines in place to monitor and control investment risk
exposure and to manage capital. The Board closely reviews the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure the Group has a liquidity structure, with assets,
liabilities and other commitments, adequate for meeting its funding
requirements at all times.

UPDATE ON MATERIAL ASSET IMPAIRMENT

During the Year, the Group appointed Ascent Partners Valuation Service
Limited as independent professional valuer in assisting in the valuation of the
CGU in relation to the Boom Max Group as at 30 September 2023 and 31
December 2023 (“Valuation Dates”).

The Group recorded an impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$4
million as at 30 September 2023 and approximately HK$14 million as at 31
December 2023 in relation to the Boom Max Group. The impairment loss of
HK$18 million for the Year on goodwill was non-cash in nature, and did not
affect the Group’s working capital condition during the Year.

Impairment on goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, an impairment loss
shall be recognised for the cash generating unit (“CGU”) if the recoverable
amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the CGU. The
Company should conduct goodwill impairment review annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

EEFEER

AEBMMEHRBRRINER S - EREBRAETAR
AEEERREL T EERES AEEIBEERKE
T’”Txéﬂﬁ KREABIE IG5 - EEERYIEAER
HmEhEEin MERAEEZEE AR REMK
TR ESEBEIFIERBEERNEEEEK.

BEREAREERENERER

RAEE ZERBBCEZEN AT ELBHAERABELE
UEEGHEM URBM _E - =F A=+ HAKZE
“=F+ZA=+—H (MaEBHI) ZBoom MaxftHE
REEHETETHEE

ATEC=FNB=+H > AEERFEBoom MaxtE
AN E 2R EE494,000,0008 T AR T =
FE+ZA=+—HB#%14,000,0008 7T RAEE » &
2 E A5 184918,000,0008 T A IEIRE ML » HALE
ERAEENEEESR RN ERFE -

R A

RIBFDFEGTERFEI6T > MIREERBETZAIKE

SREIOPRReELBEIZREE MARREEHET
(MReEHEBRT) BAREEE BHREA4REBER
EHRATERE AR AESEREAELHETS
BEESL -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Calculation of impairment loss

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Boom Max Group
before impairment for the Year was approximately HK$197 million (31
December 2022: approximately HK$201 million) which comprised (i) goodwill
of approximately HK$51 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$51
million) attributable to the Group’s 65.177% interest in the Boom Max Group;
(i) goodwill of approximately HK$27 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$27 million) attributable to the non-controlling interests in the Boom Max
Group; and (i) net operating assets of approximately HK$119 million (31
December 2022: approximately HK$123 million) of the Boom Max Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the Boom Max Group
was approximately HK$169 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$220 million) (equivalent to approximately US$21.8 million (31 December
2022: approximately US$28.4 million)), being an amount shown in the
valuation report on the Boom Max Group as at 31 December 2023 prepared
by the independent professional valuer, which was determined based on
the value in use (“VIU”) using the valuation method of discounted cash flow.
It requires estimates concerning future cash flows and associated discount
rate and growth rate assumptions which are based on the management’s
expectation of future business performance and prospects of the Boom Max
Group.

The impairment loss on goodwill of 100% interest of the CGU of the Software
Business of approximately HK$28 million for the Year reduces the carrying
amount of the Boom Max Group from approximately HK$197 million as at 31
December 2023 to its recoverable amount of approximately HK$169 million
as at 31 December 2023. After the allocation of impairment loss to non-
controlling interests, the Group recognised the impairment loss on goodwill
of approximately HK$18 million in relation to the Boom Max Group as at 31
December 2023 with reference to its holding of 65.177% interest in the Boom
Max Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Key basis and assumptions adopted for projected cash flow of
the Software Business

The expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period from the
year of 2024 to 2028 (“Forecast Period”) in 2023 was approximately 6.76%
while the expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period from
2023 to 2027 (“Previous Forecast Period”) in 2022 was approximately 7.89%.

There were no significant changes in the basis adopted in the preparation
of the projected cash flow for the Forecast Period in 2023 as compared
with those adopted for the Previous Forecast Period in 2022. The expected
average sales growth rate during the Forecast Period was determined with
reference to a research on software industry conducted on an international
research platform for companies, industries and mergers and acquisitions
deals analysis while similar approach was adopted for determining the
expected average sales growth rate during the Previous Forecast Period in
2022. The expected annual net profit margins during the Forecast Period in
2023 were lower than the projection of those for the Previous Forecast Period
made in 2022, by taking into consideration various factors including but not
limited to, the increase in expenditure, the volatility of the global economy and
the keen market competition in I.T. market.

The VIU of the CGU of the Software Business was developed through the
application of the weighted-average-cost-of-capital (“WACC”) to discount the
free cash flows to the CGU. The WACC was calculated by taking into account
the cost of equity and the cost of debt. The cost of equity is calculated
according to the Capital Asset Pricing Model.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The 10-year Hong Kong Sovereign Bond Yield as at 31 December 2023
(the “Valuation Date”) was used as the risk-free rate of Hong Kong because
government bonds are regarded as risk-free. This rate, as obtained from an
international research database, was approximately 3.22% (31 December
2022: 3.65%). As the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and the
principal operating subsidiaries of the Boom Max Group are located in
Hong Kong, reference was made to the Hang Seng Index annualised
expected return when determining the expected market return of Hong
Kong. The expected market return of Hong Kong, a forward-looking rate,
was approximately 16.381% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
15.981%). It is the annualised expected rate of return of Hong Kong equity
market proxied as the market capitalisation weighted average of the expected
internal rate of return of each company in the Hang Seng Index. The internal
rate of return is derived by using the dividend discount model based on
estimates from market consensus taking into account the dividend yield,
growth rate and dividend payout ratio by an international research database.
Therefore, the market risk premium, which was the difference between the
expected market return and the risk-free rate, was taken to be 13.17% (31
December 2022: 12.34%) based on the rate quoted from an international
research database. The market risk premium is the additional required return
over the risk free rate when investing in equity market. A small company risk
premium of 4.83% (31 December 2022: 4.80%), suggested by an international
consulting firm based on its research and database, was applied to the
relatively small size of the Boom Max Group. The small company risk premium
can be added to cost of capital estimation models as an adjustment for the
additional risk of smaller companies relative to large companies. The research
done by the international consulting firm provides different size premiums
for different companies with various range of market capitalisation. In the
research, all companies on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) were
ranked by the combined market capitalisation of their eligible equity securities.
The companies were then split into 10 equally populated groups or deciles.
Eligible companies traded on the NYSE and the Nasdag National Market
(“NASDAQ”) were then assigned to the appropriate deciles according to their
capitalisation in relation to the NYSE breakpoints. The market capitalisation of
the Boom Max Group falls within the smallest range stated in the research and
the small company risk premium was accordingly applied. The small company
risk premium was calculated over the years from 1928 to 2022 during which
the actual return in excess of risk free rate minus the return in excess of risk
free rate as predicted by Capital Asset Pricing Model. The levered beta of
approximately 0.874 (31 December 2022: approximately 0.872) was derived
from the average of unlevered beta of approximately 0.769 (31 December
2022: approximately 0.738) of guideline public companies in similar industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Unlevered Beta

BIRRREE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E-= T F
+=ZB=+—H +-BA=1+—H

Guideline Public Companies EHAILE AR

Absolute Software Corp Absolute Software Corp N/A R3E R 0.579
WithSecurity Oyi WithSecurity Oyi 0.903 0.847
Trend Micro Inc Trend Micro Inc 0.985 1.002
Advenica AB Advenica AB 0.692 0.731
Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. 0.744 0.778
Gen Digital Inc. Gen Digital Inc. 0.520 0.489
Average of unlevered beta THEBEEEEE 0.769 0.738

The levered beta is calculated by multiplying the unlevered beta to the multiple
of (1 minus 16.50% of Hong Kong tax rate) and the ratio of debt to equity
and then plus 1. As at the Valuation Date, the average debt to equity ratio of
the comparable companies of approximately 16.34% (31 December 2022:
approximately 21.89%) was adopted as proxy to estimate the debt to equity
ratio of the Boom Max Group. The amount of cost of debt adopted was
6.58% (31 December 2022: 6.37%) which was the Hong Kong Prime Rate
from Bloomberg lending rate as at the Valuation Date of 5.88% (31 December
2022: 5.63%) and an additional percentage of 2% (31 December 2022: 2%).
International Monetary Fund (IMF) Hong Kong lending rate of 5.88% was Hong
Kong prime lending rate that banks generally charged the most creditworthy
clients as at the Valuation Date. An additional percentage of 2% was added to
the cost of debt because of the credit risk for lending money to the Group. The
WACC of the Boom Max Group as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
17.73% (31 December 2022: approximately 16.90%). The terminal growth rate
of approximately 2.31% (31 December 2022: approximately 2.48%), which
was the average of the inflation rates of Hong Kong from 2014 to 20283, was
applied in the valuation as of the Valuation Date.

There were no significant changes in the methodology and sources of market
data applied in the valuation for the Period except for the market risk premium
of 13.17% as at 31 December 2023 which increased from approximately
12.34% as at 31 December 2022. Such change in the market risk premium
has contributed to an increase in the WACC from approximately 16.90% as
at 31 December 2022 to approximately 17.73% as at 31 December 2023.
Companies satisfying the following criteria, are adopted as comparable
companies for the valuation: (1) the comparable companies are principally
engaged in information security related business; (2) the principal business
of the comparable company is diversified geographically; (3) the shares of
the comparable company are listed on major stock exchange and have been
actively traded for a reasonable period of time; and (4) detailed financial and
operational information in respect of the comparable company are publicly
available.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
%%ﬂiﬁa"nHZhﬁ}*ﬁ

Details of the value of inputs BMABEFE

Set out below are additional information on the valuation method, details of BN _—_E_=F+_AHEERN _ZE_-__4F+_4
the value of inputs used in the valuation, key assumptions adopted by the =+—RBf&E ((CTE2-_F+ "B &E)) BOEEHSE-

independent professional valuer for performing the impairment assessment of ~ FEFMEENE AEES B IL EEEEMMRUEHH

the CGU of the Software Business in the December 2023 Valuation and in the IR < & H B T
valuation as at 31 December 2022 (“December 2022 Valuation”): TERNT .

December 2023 Valuation
ZE=F+ZAE

EITIREST M PT R AR E 2 RRAVE

December 2022 Valuation

ZEZZHE+ZRHE

Date of valuation: 31 December 2023 31 December 2022

RERHA : “ET=F+Z"A=+H B H+"A=+—H

Valuation target: Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries

HEBR Boom Max International Limited & ELff /B A )

Valuation method: Discounted cash flow, income approach

fEERE: ARIRIRERE N WATE

Sum of present value of free cash flow Approximately US$21.8 million Approximately US$28.4 million

BHEREREREEM #J21,800,000% 7T #928,400,000E 7T

Major value of inputs:

FEHAE:

(i) Expected average sales growth rate 6.76% from 2024 to 2028 7.89% from 2023 to 2027

() TEHRTHHEIREX TEINFEEZZIN\EA TEIZFEIZAESR
6.76% 7.89%

(ii) Expected annual gross profit margin range ranged from 80.52% to 80.53% equals to 80.20% during the years
during the years 2024 to 2028 2023 to 2027

(i) TEHREEENXHE RZEZNFEEZZTIN\EF N_B_=FE_ZT_tHF
71 F80.52%%80.53% HEEH80.20%

(iii) Expected annual net profit margin range ranged from 16.26% to 26.50% ranged from 21.36% to 29.97%
during the years 2024 to 2028 during the years 2023 to 2027

(i)  TEHRGFEEANR)ZEE RZEZNFEEZZTIN\EF R_BE_=FE_T_+F
T F16.26%ZFE26.50% T F21.36%%E29.97%

(ivy  Corporate tax rate 16.50% 16.50%

(v) (REREK

(v) WACC 17.73% 16.90%

V) MEFHEERRE

(v Terminal growth rate 2.31% 2.48%

V) KAHEER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The reason for the decrease in the VIU of the December 2023 Valuation as
compared to the VIU of the December 2022 Valuation are summarised as
below:

a. the projected annual net profit margins for the Forecast Period in 2023
were lower than the projection of those for the Previous Forecast Period
made in 2022, by taking into consideration various factors including but
not limited to, the increase in the volatility of the global economy and the
keen market competition in the I.T market; and

b. the market risk premium of 13.17% as at 31 December 2023 which
increased from approximately 12.34% as at 31 December 2022. Such
change in the market risk premium has contributed to an increase in
the WACC from approximately 16.90% as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately 17.73% as at 31 December 2023.

Reasons for using value in use approach in the valuation

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the VIU of the CGU of the Software Business. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the
carrying amount of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable
amount of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less costs
of disposal. Having searched through an international research database,
all announcements on the websites of the Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the financial reports
and publicly available information of listed companies in Hong Kong, limited
information of recent transactions of comparable CGU was available for the
fair value less costs of disposal to be reliably measured as there was no
reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price at which an orderly
transaction to sell the CGU would take place between market participants
under the then prevailing market condition. The fair value less costs of disposal
method was therefore not adopted and the value in use of the CGU of the
Software Business was estimated using the discounted cash flow method as
its recoverable amount.

Details of the impairment tests for the CGUs containing goodwill are disclosed
in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal during the Year.
Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 22 employees (31 December
2022: 22 employees). During the Year, the total staff costs of the Group
(including Directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were approximately
HK$12,056,000 (2022: approximately HK$16,136,000). The Group’s
remuneration policy emphasises equality, motivation and performance of
the employees, with a principle to strengthen its competitiveness in the
market and comply with statutory requirements of Hong Kong. Remuneration
packages are generally reviewed annually. Apart from salary payments, other
staff benefits include provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage
and discretionary performance-related bonuses. The Group also has a share
option scheme in place to reward and motivate employees. Details of the
share option scheme of the Company are set out in the section headed “Other
Information—Share Option Scheme” in this report.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the development costs of intangible assets were approximately
HK$41,583,000 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$43,125,000). Please
refer to note 41 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report for details.

BRI Rk

FERRFFETEEFAERRBRNHEEE-
1B B Rl B R

A S =F+ZA=+—H ' AEEEA2LER

(B _H+"B=+—8:22%E8) -IN&HE
B AERETHARE BRESHFHALAEDR) 85
12,056,000/ 7T (ZE — — 4 : £9%16,136,000/57T) °
REBMPBER TS BB - BEENAE MG E FHE
FOURANSRENNETEB LR EARA F
MirREEEFERs RieMah HMETHEA e
BEABESHR BEREBREARIBHG ZHIBTAL 4
EETNREBRES BB R EE - BRA AT
BT R BN A RS TE BN — BR8]
—Hpe

HARRE

A BT =F+R=+—H rERETEEAERR
REECE_ZF+A=t+—H: 8-

BRI
AR ZE+ A=+ EREENREME
Z BT HERBENE ARIEL A41,5683,0008E 7T (=

T _HF+_HB=+—H : £43,125,000/87T) ¥ 1B
AR E NG IFRERM 410

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

22



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to bolster up its capability in
technology, as well as optimise the business strategies, in order to ensure a
healthy momentum and sustainable growth of our businesses. Supported by
the professional research and development team of the Group, the Group will
continue to review and upgrade its software products with features to combat
computer virus, cyber attacks and spyware for its customers all over the
world. In addition, the Group will continue to expand the sales channels and
marketing footprint of its software products to the emerging markets.

In the past years, economic outlook was clouded by the geopolitical tensions
around the globe and the tightening of global financial conditions adding
uncertainty to both consumer confidence and market sentiment. These global
issues, together with the increasingly fierce competition in the industry, may
create a relatively unstable operating environment to our businesses in the
coming future.

Coping with the volatile market condition, the Group will continue to maximise
its strengths, enhance its professionalism, and create effective strategic
plans in order to achieve resilient financial performance. In the coming year,
the Group will continue to pay close attention to the overall economy and
the challenging operating environment. The Group will continue to adopt a
cautious approach in overseeing the development of corporate strategy, with a
view to achieving sustainable growth and returns to the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
Year.

The Company is committed to maintaining corporate governance in high
standard with quality procedures. The Company has put in place governance
practices with emphasis on the integrity to the Shareholders and quality of
disclosure, transparency and accountability to the Shareholders for the sake
of maximising returns to the Shareholders. The Directors acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report about their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements.

Throughout the Year, the Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions of the then prevailing Corporate Governance Code set out in
Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised five members, two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman of the Board) and Mr. Lau
Siu Cheong (chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive Officer”))
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yung, Mr.
Cheng Hong Kei and Ms. Wong Chi Yan. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Board.

The composition of the Board reflects the balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the Group’s business and for the exercise
of independent decisions. The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than half of the Board. They are professionals in
different areas, who provide independent opinions based on their expertise.

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (28 %&
FR/AE]) (“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“CONCORD Group”). As at 31 December 2023, he was interested in 100%
interests in CONCORD. In addition, as at 31 December 2023, Mr. Wong was
also one of the ultimate beneficial owners of a group of companies (“EPRO
Software Group”). Further details in relation to the directorship of Mr. Wong
in the said companies are disclosed in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” and in the sub-section headed
“Competing Interest” in the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXEAWRS

As at the date of this report, there is no relationship among members of
the Board (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship). The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting. For special Board meeting, reasonable notice will be given. The
Directors participated, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, in the Board meetings.

The Directors meet regularly at least 4 times a year and participate in person
or through other means of communication. All notices of Board meetings were
given to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any Director.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal
action against the Directors.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Attendance of Directors at Meetings

During the Year, 7 Board meetings had been held for reviewing business
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and policies
of the Company and other business matters. The attendance record of each
current and former Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and
the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set out in the table
below:

EXELAWRS

EFHFEgECE

REEER HBT7TRESFTIRLUIETERBES
K WEERILERATBERE RBRAEMER
EH  TREJISREARFIEENFAEFERNHFES
EREFEEE TR URTRATRERNEHICEH

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEER EERY
Remuneration Audit  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EXg FiZEg BREEE R%%EEE RRAE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong RBFEEE 57  NATREH N/A REF N/A REF 11
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong IKERE 777 NATEHA N/A R N/A REF 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Chan Yung MEBSTE s 2/2 5/5 2/2 11
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei B SE 77 212 5/5 2/2 11
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BETRLTL 77 2/2 5/5 2/2 11

In addition, the Chairman of the Board has annually held the meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Year, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were
separately held. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board whereas
the Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Group’s business development and
daily management and operations generally.
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EXEAWRS

Independent Non-executive Directors

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assessing the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
independent non-executive Directors. More details are set out in sub-section
headed “Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors” in the
section headed “Report of the Directors” in this report.

During the Year, the Board complied at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules that at least three independent non-executive Directors sit
in the Board (more than one-third of the Board members) and at least one
of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company in
its best knowledge considers all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. According to the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy on or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders after appointment. Other relevant provision in the Bye-law states
that one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include
(so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation)
any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment. All Directors should retire by rotation at least once
every three years.
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Under the CG Code, every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a specific
term: Ms. Wong Chi Yan was appointed for a term of 3 years commencing
on 19 April 2022 whereas, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Cheng Hong Kei were
appointed for a term of 3 years both commencing on 24 November 2023. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Company’s circular, to be sent to the Shareholders, contains detailed
information of the Directors who will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Newly appointed
Directors will receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of their responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules, relevant statutory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies.

Besides, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development trainings to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to the Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current and former
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a Director of a listed company in compliance with the
CG Code on continuous professional development during the Year.
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Attending or participating in
seminars/workshops,

and/or reading materials relevant
to roles, functions, and duties

Directors of a director of a listed company
HEXSHEFHLTATESARG
BAERBENMESE, TSR
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong =GRS v/
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong 2PJKERE 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Chan Yung BB T4 v/
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERERIE S v
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BERZ L v/

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lau Siu Cheong. The Company Secretary
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board so that
Board policy and procedures are followed. He has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The following statements, which set out the responsibility of Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 65 to 69 which
acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s auditor.
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Annual report and accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements of the Company for the Year to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance with
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies
Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards. The Directors are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and makes judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose the financial positions of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the total fee paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, RSM
Hong Kong, and its affiliate firm in respect of audit and non-audit services are
set out below:
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HK$’000

FHET

Audit services ZE RS 1,000
Non-audit services (Note) IEZBARTS (M%) 498
Total 485t 1,498

Note: The non-audit services included but were not limited to agreed-upon procedures
performed on the Group’s quarterly results and taxation services.
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EXEAWRS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually
and on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

o evaluates and determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensures the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal control

systems; and

. oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Management

° designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems;

o identifies and assesses the risks which threaten the achievement of the
strategic objectives;

° reviews the risk areas and risk level;
o advises on matters raised by employees and the Company;
o coordinates and promotes risk management by ensuring that risk

and activities processes are operated efficiently and effectively and in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules; and

o reports periodically to the Board.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The Group’s risk assessment processes are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification

o Identifies the risks through discussion with the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Assessment

o Determines the existing controls and analyses risks in terms of
consequence and likelihood in the context of those controls. The
analysis considers the range of potential consequences and how likely
those consequences are to occur. Consequences and likelihood are
combined to produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

o Categorises the risks into low risk, medium risk and high risk;

o Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and

o Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and determines

the frequency of review and control testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o on-going communication of monitoring results to the Board which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk

management during the Year, including:

o risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk register
and internal control audit plan; and

o fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. For the
enhancement of the quality of the internal audit, the Company has engaged an
external consultant to execute a significant scope of internal audit function to:

o perform the risk assessment based on management evaluation on
identified area and report the findings and recommendations to the
management;

o conduct various agreed-upon-procedures reviews on material controls

and perform testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and
areas in accordance with the Company’s internal control audit plan; and

. report to the Audit Committee for findings identified during the review
and propose recommendation for follow-up action.

During the Year, the Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee, reviewed the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems for the Year, which
cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Company’s environmental,
social and governance performance and reporting, and assessed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group by reviewing the work and findings of the internal audit function. Such
review is conducted annually. Both the Audit Committee and the Board
considered that the systems were effective and adequate for the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect from 1 January
2019, dividends may be declared and paid to the Shareholders by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is the policy of the
Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate
in the Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends by
the Company are also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye-laws and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board will continue to review the dividend policy
from time to time and the Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted its information disclosure policy and related
procedures with regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy stipulates the
responsibilities of the Group, key disclosure requirements under Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”) and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM Listing Rules, control
measures and reporting procedures of handling confidential information and
monitoring information disclosure. The Group adopts an upward reporting
approach within the Group for identifying and escalating any potential inside
information to the Board. The policy is reviewed annually and all reasonable
measures have to be taken from time to time to ensure proper safeguards
to prevent any breach of disclosure requirements and to maintain strict
confidentiality of information.

BOARD COMMITTEES/FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary,
are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report
back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management, and determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates will participate in deciding that Director’'s own remuneration.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee performed the following major
tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company;

o determined the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management;

o made recommendations to the Board of the remuneration packages of
non-executive Directors; and

o assessed performance, duties and responsibilities of executive Directors
and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest
emoluments (including the member of the current senior management of
the Company) are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report respectively.

In addition, pursuant to the Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the member of the current senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) s R (B)
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the Year, all being independent
non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Chairman)

Ms. Wong Chi Yan

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Ms. Wong Chi Yan possess the appropriate

professional qualifications and/or accounting and financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the reporting
of the Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss
with external auditor any significant financial reporting standards and
guidelines applied to the financial statements;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration
to matters raised by the Company’s compliance officer or external
auditor;

() to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to
the work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of auditor;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; and

(e) to review the Company’s arrangements to enable employees to raise, in
confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, financial
results and reports, financial reporting, compliance procedures and
effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company, report on the
Company’s internal control and risk management review and processes, re-
appointment of external auditor and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. During the Year, the Audit Committee
also met the external auditor twice without the presence of the executive
Directors. Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditor. During the Year,
the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022, the first
quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2023, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the third quarterly results for the
nine months ended 30 September 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Ms. Wong Chi Yan
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and recommending any
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become the Board members
and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors in particular, the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer; and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy (as defined
below) and making disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company from time to time.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of
candidates for appointment as a Director will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considers that an appropriate balance of diversity perspective of the Board is
maintained.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

RREET

REFER RREZEENNE ORBIUFFNITES)

(ZF/E)

BREHAE

RYZEENTIEREEREIEERTEFTENR
B NBURAERL (BEER RIS S8 - XEMHE
FR R FELR K- NHERRBER Lt
EREPHRAEFSIRUEZUBTRATNATRE
MEEBHABERAIEEIESFTNENAL BIES
BAATRBREEEZTAFIEAESTTREES STE
UFRATEZNBILE, MEFEZENEMEEURE
ELHEHREFTIERITHAR) BE8RESS
REES WA EFES T EBR(EER T €L
EEEEAREPIREB R RAIEE -

RERESFSHRF RREEEETEARENRH
MNEZESTEER (EFESTbBE) FrE%
@7

FABHBL R EEFERESTIEHREARRRER
EEMN REBAFEREOENER FABREAZ
EEEEZ A CRAXHERERBREERRAEAHF
BERNARER MEJZEREFTHNEEARER
—HRIZ L8R SFEEARILMER S F& - XER
HEER BHR BELR K -AHERBEH &
KEBREEANEBR KR SHEEERHOFEMIER
E-RRBREEERNEHEFEFES THBNEE T
fige



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In selecting and evaluating candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee shall make reference to the directors’ nomination
procedures which also contains the directors’ nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy and Procedures”) adopted by the Company on 31
December 2015 and updated on 30 December 2021 and by considering
various factors, including but not limited to (i) character and integrity; (i)
qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate strategy;
(iii) willingness to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as a Director; (iv)
requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the GEM
Listing Rules; (v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and (vi) such
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee performed the following major

tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of appointment of
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board
based on the nomination process and criteria as set out above;

o reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of appointment

of Mr. Chan Yung as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board
based on the nomination process and criteria as set out above;
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o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives and the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the Board;

o reviewed the Director Nomination Policy and Procedures to ensure
the appropriateness in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship; and

o assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors.

Analysis of the Board’s composition as at 31 December 2023 is set out in the
following chart:
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Gender Diversity
Board Level

As at the date of this report, gender diversity has been achieved at board level
upon the appointment of Ms. Wong Chi Yan as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 19 April 2022.

In respect of succession plan for maintaining gender diversity at board level,
the Board will ensure, by providing equal opportunities for all candidates
regardless of gender in respect of recruitment and staff promotion and
selecting the right candidates for appointment to the Board based on a range
of diversity perspectives as well as merits and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, that it has a diverse pipeline of candidates
ready to step into leadership positions when vacancies arise.

Workforce Level

The details of workforce composition were disclosed in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

The strategy of the Group is to select the right candidates based on their
qualifications, experience, skills, potential and performance, and in order
to enhance efficiency, the Company has not set a measurable objective for
achieving gender diversity at workforce level. In particular, gender diversity is a
challenge in the I.T. industry with its nature of work. Nonetheless, on a merit-
based policy, the Company commits to providing equal opportunities for all
people regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, marital status, family status or
disability during our recruitment and staff promotion process.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of Dealings”)
in respect to any dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company’s
Directors and relevant employees. Specific enquiries have been made to all
Directors and they all confirmed they had complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings during the Year. No incident of non-compliance of the Required
Standard of Dealings by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the Shareholders’ meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. According to the GEM Listing
Rules, all resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Set out below are the procedures for members to make proposals at a general
meeting other than a proposal of a person for election as the Directors.
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Procedures for members to make proposals at general meeting
other than a proposal of a person for election as Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

1. The Company holds an annual general meeting every year, and may
hold a general meeting known as a special general meeting whenever
necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the

total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (i) not less than 100 members, can submit a written request
stating the resolution intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting; or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

3. The written request/statements must be signed by the member(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong (from time
to time), for the attention of the Company Secretary, not less than six
weeks before the annual general meeting in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week before the
general meeting in the case of any other requisition.

4. If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board (j) to include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the member(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the member(s) concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the annual general meeting; or the
statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

The following are the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

If a member, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting
convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the member himself/herself) for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong (from time to time), for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all members of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person to be proposed for election as
a Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the member concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that general meeting,
the Company will need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in
order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed candidate; and (i) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the proposal
to the members at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the Company’s website at www.geth.com.hk.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong (from time to time), for the attention of the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Board of Directors/Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong from time to time. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be)
to the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
Shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the Shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Such policy has been reviewed by the Company
during the Year. The Company considered that the implementation of such
policy was effective.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders as follows:

0] corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports (if any), notices of meetings, listing documents and
circulars are issued in printed form and are available on the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website
at www.geth.com.hk in a timely and consistent manner as required by
the GEM Listing Rules;

(ii) corporate information and the memorandum of continuance and Bye-
laws of the Company are made available on the Company’s website;

(i) periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(iv)  annual general meeting and special general meetings provide a forum
for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management; and

(v) the Company’s share registrar serves the Shareholders in respect

of share registration, dividend payment, change of Shareholders’
particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
Year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 33, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chairman of the Board since October 2018. He is
the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wong is a member of the 13th
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of The Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science
in Mathematics from the King’s College London in the United Kingdom in
August 2014. After graduation, Mr. Wong undertook training at Legend Capital
Co., Ltd. BB EAREIER(HBPRAE], a company engaging in venture capital
business in the PRC, from October 2014 to October 2015. He has been the
director of Aerophant Capital Management Co., Ltd. REBAEEF R AT,
a company engaging in venture capital business, since June 2018.

Mr. Wong is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED ({22 B RAE)
(“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “CONCORD
Group”). As at 31 December 2023, he was interested in 100% interests in
CONCORD. In addition, as at 31 December 2023, Mr. Wong was also one
of the ultimate beneficial owners of a group of companies (‘EPRO Software
Group”). The CONCORD Group and the EPRO Software Group are principally
engaged in the provision of professional |.T. contract and maintenance
services.

Mr. Wong is the compliance officer and an authorised representative of the
Company for the purposes of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Wong serves as an
executive Director and his current term runs for three years commencing on
29 October 2021 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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EEREREEEBE

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (‘Mr. Lau”), aged 50, has been appointed as (i) an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer since 8 February 2021; and
(i) the company secretary of the Company and the authorised representative
for the purposes of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules
since August 2013. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting)
degree from the Curtin University of Technology in 1999. He obtained a Master
of Corporate Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2021. He is a fellow member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a fellow of both the Chartered
Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and holds Chartered Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional
dual designations. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Mr. Lau was the finance manager of the Company from January
2010 to July 2013. Mr. Lau was the financial controller of the Company from
August 2013 to August 2022. Mr. Lau is principally responsible for, among
others, the overall financial management, financial planning and budgetary
control of the Group and carrying out company secretarial functions of the
Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. He is also the director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lau serves as an executive Director and his current term runs for three

years commencing on 8 February 2024 and is subject to retirement from office
and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (“Ms. Wong”), aged 42, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee with effect from 19 April 2022. She was awarded a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree in Accounting from The Hong Kong Baptist
University in December 2003. She was further awarded a Master of Laws
degree in International Corporate and Financial Law from The University of
Wolverhampton in the United Kingdom in November 2016.

Ms. Wong is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate of each of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Wong has
extensive experiences in auditing, accounting and financing as well as merger
and acquisition.

Ms. Wong has been currently serving as an independent non-executive
director for the following public companies listed in Hong Kong, namely (i)
Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1182), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and (i) China Hongbao Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8316), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong served as an independent non-executive director for (i) Bay Area
Gold Group Limited (stock code: 1194), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from March 2019 to July 2021; (i) Asia
Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2019 to December
2022; and (i) Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (stock code: 2322),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from September 2023 to December 2023. Ms. Wong was also the company
secretary and authorised representative of China Properties Investment
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 736), from February 2018 to September 2023.

Ms. Wong serves as an independent non-executive Director and her current
term runs for three years commencing on 19 April 2022 and is subject to
retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBE

Mr. Chan Yung B8s, Jp (‘Mr. Chan”), aged 54, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor's Degree from The City University of Hong Kong, a
Post-graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from Tsinghua
University and a Master's Degree in Law and Public Affairs from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of Peace by the
HKSAR Government in 2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014.

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Wang On
Group Limited (stock code: 1222), whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan is a registered social worker and the president of New Territories
Association of Societies. He has also been a director of New Territories
Association of Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002.
Mr. Chan has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy to the
14th National People’s Congress of the PRC and a member of the Legislative
Council. Mr. Chan is also a vice-chairman of Democratic Alliance for the
Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. He has been appointed as a member
to the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption with effect from 1 January 2023.

Mr. Chan serves as an independent non-executive Director and his current
term runs for three years commencing on 24 November 2023 and is subject
to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 69, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. He
studied accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Cheng is a co-founding director of Cheng & Cheng Limited and had worked as
an assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department for 12 years. He
has over 35 years of experience in accounting and taxation.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of Great China
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited (previously known as Great China Properties
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 21) and China Apex Group Limited (previously
known as KEE Holdings Company Limited) (stock code: 2011), whose
shares are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is an
independent non-executive director of South China Assets Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8155) until 1 April 2022, the shares of which were no longer listed
on GEM with effect from 7 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng serves as an independent non-executive Director and his current
term runs for three years commencing on 24 November 2023 and is subject
to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong Ho Fai (“Mr. Tong”), aged 38, has been appointed as the
financial controller of the Company since 1 September 2022. He obtained
a Bachelor degree with Honours in Finance, Accounting and Management
from University of Nottingham in 2008. He obtained a Master of Corporate
Governance degree from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2017. He is
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
the member of both the Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and holds Chartered Secretary and
Chartered Governance Professional dual designations. He has over ten years
of experience in audit, finance, accounting and management.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 9 January 2014 (Bermuda time).
Its shares have been listed on GEM since 31 December 2001. The head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room
1204-5, 12/F., Centre Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while the Group is
principally engaged in (1) research, development and distribution of PC
performance software, anti-virus software, mobile phone applications and
toolbar advertisements; (2) the operation of a business-to-customer online
sales platform, and the business-to-business product trading; (3) securities
investment; and (4) provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services during the Year. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
Results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 70 to 194 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the Year
(2022: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group during the Year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this report, particularly in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors” of this report. Also,
the financial risk management of the Company can be found in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements. These discussions form part of this report
of the Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders are also provided in the
following sub-sections of this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the segment results and geographical locations of operations
of the Group for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted to
HK$150,000 for the Year (2022: HK$100,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Options

Save for the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 June 2017,
details of which are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
and the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors,
there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisting at the end of the Year. The disclosure in the aforementioned
sections of this report forms part of this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on pages 74 to 75 of this report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES/DEFICIT

As at 31 December 2023, the deficit of the Company was approximately
HK$450,604,000 (2022: deficit of approximately HK$486,594,000).
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws,

or the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO DIRECTOR(S)

Except for the director’s fee payable, there is no amount due to a Director nor
loans from a Director as at 31 December 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s total revenue for the Year attributable to the
Group’s major customers are as follows:

Revenue
= the largest customer: 3.62%

- five largest customers in aggregate: 12.05%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The percentages of Group’s purchases for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases
- the largest supplier: 51.98%
- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 84.35%

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in notes 29 and
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental
sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all material respects in
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental protection
and pollutant control, such as the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group is a service-oriented enterprise
mainly with office operations, therefore its daily business does not generate
material direct emission of greenhouse gases, industrial pollutants, sewage
and hazardous waste. Nevertheless, the Group pays high attention to
environmental protection in order to become a green corporation.

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its
business activities. Initiatives within the Group include, but not limited to,
waste reduction by double-sided printing and separating recyclable paper,
green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable items and using
office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department, and energy reduction by switching off idle electronic
appliances. The Group will continuously review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance considerations
into its operational processes. By promoting green awareness amongst
and maintaining dialogue with employees and business partners, the Group
is determined to promote environmental protection in the daily business
operations and establish a sustainable working environment.
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An Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report of the Company
in compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide
in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules is published on the same day
of this report at the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. A copy of the ESG Report can be viewed and downloaded from
the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) under the “Listed
Company Publications” section and from the website of the Company
(www.geth.com.hk) under the “Financial Reports” sub-section of the “Investor
Relations” section.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform with the market
standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to fulfil its short-term and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
services of constantly high standards of quality to its customers. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

In extending and/or granting credit terms to customers, the Group will carefully
assess creditworthiness and financial standing of each individual customer.
Management will also closely monitor all outstanding debts and review their
collectability periodically.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Data privacy has become a critical issue for online sales business in the
world. In relation to the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, the Group has paid close attention to
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of its customers. Under the daily
operation of the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business, it is inevitable to deal with enormous amount
of customers’ and potential customers’ information during the process of
online transactions. It is of significant importance for the Group to handle their
data with care so as to comply with the laws and regulations relating to data
privacy. Employees are required to fully abide by the provisions stipulated
when handling customers’ data and they are prohibited from any unauthorised
copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including
customers’ identities and transaction records.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance

with any relevant laws and regulations that posed a significant impact on the
Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As from 31 December 2023 to the date of this report, no significant event
affecting the Group has occurred.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out on page 195 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, related party transactions in relation to the transactions with
key management personnel who are Directors in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements fell under the definition of “connected transactions” and
they were fully exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company has not entered into any connected
transactions that are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTEREST

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED ({#E85H
FfR/AF)) (“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“CONCORD Group”). As at 31 December 2023, he was interested in 100%
interests in CONCORD.

In addition, as at 31 December 2023, Mr. Wong was also one of the ultimate
beneficial owners of a group of companies (“EPRO Software Group”).

The CONCORD Group and the EPRO Software Group are principally engaged
in the provision of professional I.T. contract and maintenance services,
and such business activities may compete with the Group’s Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including any person who
at any time during the Year was a Director), controlling Shareholder, nor their
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and as at the date of this report
are:

e

RAEFERARRAREER EHEFOT !

Appointed on

WU T HRERE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman) RHIFZRE (FE) 29 October 2018

2 N\Ft+AZ+ANH
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (Chief Executive Officer) BIKBSRE (TE#EE) 8 February 2021

2 —H%ZANH
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIEBMITES
Mr. Chan Yung FRESLE 24 November 2017

—E—tHF+—BZ+MmA
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BRERAR A 24 November 2017

—E—tHF+—BZ+MmA
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BERZ T 19 April 2022

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy on or as an addition to the existing Board shall
be subject to re-election by the Shareholders after appointment.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 46 to 50 of this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

None of the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the
Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assessing the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
independent non-executive Directors including the following:

° Every independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may affect his/her independence.

o The independent non-executive Directors should make a positive
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and informed comments.

. The independent non-executive Directors shall at least annually attend
meeting with the Chairman of the Board without the presence of other
Directors.

The Company confirmed that it has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all existing independent
non-executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws and the GEM Listing Rules.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their respective background,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OR
ARRANGEMENTS

None of the Directors (including any person who at any time during the Year
was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party which was subsisting during or at the end of the Year, nor did
any Director have direct or indirect interests in any assets which have been
acquired or disposed of by or leased to, or are proposed to be acquired or
disposed of by or leased to, any member of the Group at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

There was () no contract of significance entered into by and/or subsisted
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) no contract
of significance in relation to the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of his subsidiaries to the Group entered into and/or
subsisted during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company
and underlying Shares

EFEHS
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Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

Number of share capital

Name of Director Capacity Shares interested of the Company
AR HERT

EEHSR 513 BEEENRHEE RABOBE DL

(Note 1) (Note 2)

(Mg5E1) (HizE2)

Wong Jing Shong Beneficial owner 333,336,177 (L) 75.0%

BmBEAA

=IEE
Notes:
1. “L” denotes a long position.

2. The total number of 444,448,237 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
of the Directors, at no time during the Year or at the end of the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors and the chief executive, their respective spouses or children under
the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the
Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company on 13 June 2017
and adopted on 15 June 2017.

The Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entities in
which any member of the Group holds equity interest.

The Directors may subject to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following
classes of eligible participants, to take up share options to subscribe for
Shares: (a) any eligible employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest (“invested entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any invested entity; and (c) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any invested entity.

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on its adoption date. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force until 15 June 2027 and after such date no further options shall be offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted before its expiry or termination but not yet exercised.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted at any time under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares on the date of Shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme or the date of Shareholders’ approval
of a refreshment of such limit in a general meeting of the Company (‘General
Scheme Limit”). Previously granted options which may be outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the General Scheme Limit.

Each grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who or whose associate is the proposed grantee). Where any grant of
options to a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

Upon acceptance of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant. Such option will be offered for acceptance within such time specified in
the offer which shall not be later than 21 days from the date on which the offer
is made.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
The exercise price for the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined at the discretion of the Board but in any event shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Share.
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During the Year and as at the date of this report, no share option has been
granted, cancelled or exercised. There was no outstanding share option under
the Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023
respectively.

The number of options available for grant under the General Scheme Limit of
the Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 was
44,444,823 Shares and 44,444,823 Shares respectively.

For the Year, the number of shares that may be issued under the Share Option
Scheme during the Year was nil, and divided by the weighted average number
of Shares of 444,448,237 Shares as at 31 December 2023, is nil.

As at 31 December 2023 and at the date of this report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 44,444,823,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Substantial Shareholders

Save for the interest in Shares held by Mr. Wong Jing Shong, an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, as disclosed in the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations” in this report of the Directors, the Directors were not aware of
any other person (other than Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2023, had, or was deemed or taken to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in
relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company has
maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group. The relevant provisions in the Bye-laws
of the Company and the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance are currently
in force and were in force throughout the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes in operation for the Year are
set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yung and
Ms. Wong Chi Yan. The Audit Committee holds a meeting at least quarterly
each year. The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been
reviewed and discussed by the Audit Committee before any disclosure and
release of information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

22 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIZHETHRS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GET HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GET Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
70 to 194, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the ~ B4z & MR PR EE MW HIE - M ETIZER
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key

audit matter we identified is:

Key Audit Matter
FAfRE % EI18

Impairment assessment of goodwill

AR R E G

Refer to notes 4(c), 4(t),
statements.

SRGEMHREM E40) 40

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill with carrying
value of approximately HK$42,525,000, arising from the acquisition
of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (‘Boom Max
Group”) and Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).
Management has allocated goodwill to individual cash-generating
units (“CGUs”"). Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment on
an annual basis.
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5(b) and 22 to the consolidated financial
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The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on either fair value less cost of disposal or value-in-use models
which require significant estimates concerning future cash flows,
and associated discount rates and growth rates assumptions,
which are based on management’s expectations of future business
performance and prospects.
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The inherent risk in relation to the impairment assessment of
goodwill is considered significant as the impairment assessment
involves significant estimates and assumptions which were
subjective. Therefore, we identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill is a key audit matter.
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Audit Matter

We understood and evaluated the key internal control over the
impairment assessment of goodwill, and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainly and level of other inherent risk factors including
subjectivity.
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We evaluated the outcome of prior period impairment assessment
on goodwill to assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation
process.
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We evaluated the independent valuer's competence, capabilities
and objectivity.

RAFHEBIEEMNERE SENRERE -

We used our valuation specialists to assess the integrity of the
models used and the appropriateness of the discount rates, long-
term growth rates, other information, assumptions and estimates for
the impairment assessment determined by management.
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We agreed inputs to the models to supporting evidence including
the latest approved 5-year budgets and considered the accuracy of
management’s previous budgets.

HPIBERAB AR A B ST BB AE T
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We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management in preparing the cash flow forecasts in light of historical
results and the current operating environment.

ENBEXEREREERG RMALEEEERRIRTRE
RRASFEHNEERRGEE-

We challenged the management’s sensitivity analysis in
consideration of potential impact of reasonable possible downside
changes in key assumptions.

ZE R RRNGIER T E
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We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of the impairment testing of goodwiill.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIZHETHRS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

BIZHEMRS

*é%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁt%ﬁﬁéﬁa‘i‘%iﬁﬁﬁ%E’\Jﬁﬁ&
llg

REEERSERNZE  ERESBEERETH
BRI ETERBEEREMEFENE AR - 58
SRR P] R SR A A - B 5 N S IETRER
BRTIZEEREREZSAOYBRERFHHE
HEIRERS  BIRAR B E AR -

ERBEBETERETHRANBREDT RAEREE
HIET > RIFHEIREERRE - HFITF

. HA BT A IR R M ERR S B K
FREEARBBRRAN AR R RATENEF
MR ZE R U ERRRNEENER
B ERHMBRER - ARNIRGERISEW K&
FRE BRER BRI EAEANREIZN
B R REZFRRRFMERNERERR
M EBRENREEREERMERNEAHER
PR 2t B9 fL g o

. T HRAESHARIPI BB I  DIRETE ERVE S
BF ELFEEY SEEAMEENERN
BERER-

. THMEEEMRAE BRI EM R EHE S
STANMERIIREEMI S IR -

. HEERBAFECESTERNBEMIFHE
o WARMEFT BN ES S HERSHFIEA
FERBEREMNERTEEN  EMAIEEE
Y BEENFECEENEEEARBE MR
MRREEEATREEN  MACEETRMAR
HHERFERAEIRAGMBRRPOERK
B HHARMKETE ETRMANER - M
WD ENBEZEONRE BRSNS
BEE AT RRBENBRATLEER BEEH

EAREEE-

. AR AMBERERNBEERS N BB RN
2 BEEREER URGEVHBREZSTE
RARAERIR ZAIE R

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

68



69

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIZHETHRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Szeto Tai Shun.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountant
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

A 42 2L
FEEER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 TEC=Ft+TA=1+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2023 2022
= T
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FHET FET
Revenue KA 8 92,360 106,028
Cost of sales tHE A (24,368) (33,216)
Gross profit EF 67,992 72,812
Other income EHMA 9 2,531 1,132
Other gains and (losses), net Hiham ke (8518) » %58 10 (26,341) (8,039)
Reversal of impairment losses 85 R EMEWRIERE
on trade and other receivables 51814 0] 1,124 2,722
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHMAZ (65,302) (66,015)
(Loss)/profit from operations g (518) A (19,996) 2,612
Finance costs BE kA 12 (100) (144)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRiE (B518) &F) 13 (20,096) 2,468
Income tax expense FriStRBEsZ 14 (1,239) (3,856)
Loss for the year EEEEIE (21,335) (1,388)
Attributable to: WTFALREM :
Owners of the Company KABEB A (23,415) (8,059)
Non-controlling interests JEPERGRE 2,080 6,671
(21,335) (1,388)
Loss per share (HK cents) FHRES1E GBIl 18
Basic f=%IN (5.27) (1.81)
Diluted #E (5.27) (1.81)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEeRmREMEERRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE_S_—Ft+_F=1+—HIFE
BTN

2023 2022
—ZT== B F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E THET THET
Loss for the year EEEEIE (21,335) (1,388)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEas - 19
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: B E# P 4EE B AIES -
Exchange differences on translation ITEEINTB AT
of financial statements of overseas MR REENERETE
subsidiaries 27 60
ltems that will not be reclassified to T EEM P EERmIYER &
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments at H@EMEEmE U A FEEEYER
fair value through other comprehensive (MEBEMEEWEUATFEE
income (“FVTOCI”) FIER)) IR AT AN AT EBEE 27) (27)
Other comprehensive income TEEHMEEmWE  NRRE
for the year, net of tax - 33
Total comprehensive income for the year ZAFEE R EURHELREE (21,335) (1,355)
Attributable to: WUTFALRE:
Owners of the Company EAN/NEIEZZ DN (23,415) (8,026)
Non-controlling interests JEPERG RS 2,080 6,671
(21,335) (1,355)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HEMBIRRAR

At 31 December 2023 RIE2E=F+"A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2023 2022
—EZ= B
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BERZE 20 10 648
Right-of-use assets FRESE 21 857 347
Goodwill [EES 22 42,525 60,525
Intangible assets B EE 23 109,588 113,797
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEREMEEWEURFEE
FERNEREE 25 1,013 1,040
153,993 176,357
Current assets RENEE
Inventories E8 26 13 1,290
Trade and other receivables 85 Kk EAMEWRIE 27 11,744 28,284
Financial assets at fair value through ZEiBBmUAFEEY R (EHRER
profit or loss (“FVTPL") UATEBEIR) NEREE 28 23,125 24,037
Tax recoverable AU EIIRIE 95 347
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITER 29 634 630
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 29 83,342 70,592
118,953 125,180
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B o Rk EMEMRIE 30 7,562 7,773
Contract liabilities BHEaE 31 786 1,784
Borrowings RN 32 - 600
Lease liabilities HEaR& 33 592 313
Current tax liabilities ERREBESRE 26,363 26,421
35,303 36,891
Net current assets RBEERE 83,650 88,289
Total assets less current liabilities BELERTBAE 237,643 264,646
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Lease liabilities HEar® 33 287 4
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEAE 34(a) 18,082 18,777
18,369 18,781
NET ASSETS BEFE 219,274 245,865
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBIRRAR

At 31 December 2023 RIE2E=F+"A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2023 2022
—EZ= B CF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FET
Capital and reserves B K #E
Share capital &N 35 4,444 4,444
Reserves e 37 176,421 199,836
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZSA BB AFE(GER 180,865 204,280
Non-controlling interests JEVERR M T 38,409 41,585
TOTAL EQUITY RS 219,274 245,865

Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2024 and are signed onits &ABHEN T _NE=ZRB _+_BtETHAMUTE

behalf by: EAREE
Wong Jing Shong Lau Siu Cheong
HIFE 213k 8
Director Director
EE BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE

—— =

. ——

CLETTAIm)

Attributable to owners of the Company

mah

0~

¥ T

F+"BA=+—HILFE

2

EIES

NG YN
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf R
ks RIYEE  ERER  ERHE fE  ZubR it Eq g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TEL ThEL TET TEL TET TEL Thn TEL ThEn
At 1 January 2022 RZB-_"%-B-H 4444 517,181 992,154 (1) (2310 (1,299,052) 212,306 40,172 262478
Loss for the year TEERR = S = = = (8,059 (8,059) 6,671 (1,388)
Other comprehensive income Efn2Eka - - - 60 27 = kel = kel
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
for the year - - - 60 27 (8,059) (8,026) 6,671 (1,355)
Dividends paic to non-controling BIREERERNRE
interests (note 24) (F5to4) - - - - - - - (5.258) (5259
Changes in equty for the year rEERRED - - - - - - - (5,258) (5,258
At 31 December 2022 e S
+ZA=+-H 4,444 517,181 992,154 (51) (2337 (1,307,111) 204,280 4158 245,865
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
LaREnE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE

—m——

—_=5_—=

CLETAIm)

Attributable to owners of the Company

F+"BA=1+—HILFE

FRFARE RS
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf R
ks RIYEE  ERER  ERHE fE  ZubR it Eq g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TEL ThEL TET TEL TET TEL Thn TEL ThEn
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%-A-A 4444 517,181 992,154 (51) (2337)  (1,807,111) 204,280 41585 245,865
Loss for the year rEERR = - - - - (23415) (23415) 2,080 (21,339)
Other comprehensive income Efr2EkE - - S 2a 27) - - - -
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
for the year - - - 2 27 (23415) (23418) 2,080 (21,335)
Dividends paid to non-controling BIREERERNRE
interests (note 24) (F5to4) - - - - - - - (5,256 (5,256)
Changes in equty for the year rEERRED - - - - - - - (5,256) (5,256)
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=E
+ZA=+-H 4,444 517,181 992,154 (24) (2364 (1,330,526) 180,865 38,409 219,274

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) CUETIIm
2023 2022
—ZT== B
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5E THET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM KEEHHRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax FRFRRT (B518) E A (20,096) 2,468
Adjustments for: R .
Bank interest income SRITH]EUWA (1,666) (277)
Amortisation iy 40,696 35,911
Depreciation on property, ME- -BERRZEITE
plant and equipment 69 183
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEEITE 659 736
Dividend income BB WA (231) (77)
Finance costs BLE AL A 100 144
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL ~ FEBE&RE UA FEEY BRI SR
BENQATEEEE 1,109 6,604
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets KRILEAREEZ Wam = Q)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BERRENHE
equipment - 535
Impairment loss on goodwill EmEREEIE 18,000 =
Impairment loss on intangible asset B EEZRERSIE 6,638 -
Impairment loss on property, plant ME- -BERIZEZRESE
and equipment 559 S
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and B 5 REMEWRIBERERE
other receivables #(o] (1,124) (2,722
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A, s =
FERHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2023 2022
—EZ= B F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 THET THET
Operating profit before working EEESEHAINEERT
capital changes 44,713 43,404
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,277 254
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 R A UGRIE R D 17,664 2,432
Decrease in trade and other payables 85 REMEARERLD (211) (1,450)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERL (998) (87)
Cash generated from operations REXBEMBRRE 62,445 44,553
Income tax paid BIPTER (1,740) (1,825)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEME (48) (26)
Net cash generated from RS EETSIRE PR
operating activities 60,657 42,702
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETHHRESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUWERITHE 1,666 277
Dividend income B EUA 40(c)(i) 34 24
Increase in pledged bank deposits EIRIRIRITIERIE N0 4 -
Expenditure on development projects FEREBEENSH (43,125) (46,856)
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEYE BB KRREN
plant and equipment FTiSFIE - 50
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BBV -BER&RE (8) (666)
Net cash used in investing activities S EEFTARIRE S 38 (41,437) 47,171)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2023 2022
—EZ= B CF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM MEEERERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BAFE (52) (118)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ENIEERERRE (5,256) (5,258)
Principal elements of lease payments HAENRNAZI D (607) 817)
Borrowings raised EEMEM - 300
Borrowings repaid BEMBNR (600) (967)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFTARS R (6,515) (6,860)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RERFELEBEYEM, (BL) P8
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 12,705 (11,329)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERAxEFH o8 45 69
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—A—HBHNRERREEEY
1 JANUARY 70,592 81,852
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+ZBA=+—HHNHRER
31 DECEMBER REEEY 83,342 70,592
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND RERREEEMIH
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents RERIFAEEEY 29 83,342 70,592
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 AN

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
30 July 2001 and continued in Bermuda on 9 January 2014. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1204-05, 12/F., Centre
Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Mr. Wong Jing Shong is
the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000) unless otherwise stated. Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

The Group did not change its accounting policies or make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the
abovementioned amended standards or annual improvements.

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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A1 #5 8RR Mt 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements”
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 "Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”
for the first time in the current year. The amendments narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions
that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences - e.g.
leases. The impact on the financial statements was immaterial.

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the
HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the abolition
of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF’) — Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF
contributions to the trustee who administers the assets held
in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each individual
employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF contributions
was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57)
(“Employment Ordinance”). In June 2022, the Government of
the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use
of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the Amendment
Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of employment)
is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the
employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of the
MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the
Group has implemented the guidance published by the HKICPA
in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so as to
provide more reliable and more relevant information about the
effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition. The impact
on the financial statements was immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
standards and interpretation that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification

of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease
Liability in a Sales and Leaseback

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause (‘HK
Int 5 (Revised)”)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
— Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of
Exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2025

To be determined
by the HKICPA

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRSs will not have material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(@)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in
the acquisition are, with limited exceptions, measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(c)

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at
fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily office equipment and
office premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

HE

4.

—m——

CLETAIm)

EXE

()

S EERER (8

HE

FEBREGHNBTIEERGOERESEE
ERESHE - HaOBREIABME T
E—REHEAZEGRTHNEEEROR
FAZAMEHERESHE - HER
RERIEEERNEENAR  TAHRER
ZFRREUS BB D AR E ] a0 BRI
B8%e

EANESHEAMB Y KIFREAM
o AEMBER DR IFAEARED
Do WA ERSAEARE D RE
FAERASF A E AR D ABRIIFE—TE
AR

REERRBER AEREmEHEEEE
AMAERFHERIMAEYE  AEMMER
TRREENREIESR BEHA12EA
HEENERREURMCEEEERER
5N cEAEEMBEEEEIEER
FEBRSEEEBRRNAEREAREEE
b BZEMMFENCEEAEMNEE
MR ERRRARE ERED B



For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f)

Leases (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be made
under reasonably certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the lease liability. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by,
which does not have recent third-party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f)

Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (‘lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred. Costs on development activities
are capitalised as intangible assets only if all of the following
conditions are met:

S The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

- There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

= It can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

= Adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset are available;

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Development costs on personal computer 2-6 years
performance software, anti-virus software

and mobile applications (“Computer and

Mobile Phone Software”)

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(v) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

0

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified under
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other receivables
with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(n)

(0)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
(i) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of services may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

- provides benefits that are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

= does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
CeETEHIN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EEAXRGHBERER @)
(continued)
(0) Revenue and other income (continued) (0 WAKEMIKE &)
0 Service income 0 ARFEUA

Services fee income from |.T. contract services
including I.T. maintenance services and system
integration services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. Services are
fixed-price contracts that customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the services rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile
phone software is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the software when a contract is
agreed, the software is delivered and the customer
has the right to use it.

Revenue from the sales of hardware and software
products is recognised when control of the goods
has been transferred which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and
the title has passed to the customers. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(0) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i)

(i)

Toolbar and advertisement incorme

Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar
private label arrangements with toolbar service providers.
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of
search based income when users use the search engine
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and
services and purchase goods and services advertised in
the search result.

Income from advertisement is derived principally from
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.

The Group recognises revenue as a performance
obligation at a point in time when the revenue can be
measured reliably and the collectability is reasonably
assured.

Interest income

Interest income on loans are recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or financial assets at FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(0)

{9)

Revenue and other income (continued)

v)

(Vi)

Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Employee benefits

0

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) participate in the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities for the Group’s
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes
are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offsetted as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in
term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is measured
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

uﬂ'\

SMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(P)

(q)

Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific borrowing
that remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for its
intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

14 AN

S M5 R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax assets related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends either to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(s)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the reporting
entity.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(i) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condlitions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity
or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the reporting entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

14 AN

S M5 R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(s)

(t)

Related parties (continued)

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condiitions applies. (continued)

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(i) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provide key management personnel

services to the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost, trade
and other receivables, pledged bank deposit and bank and cash
balances. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

S significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

S significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

0] the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
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A1 #5 8RR Mt 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

S information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

S significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

= it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
v E

A1 #5 8RR Mt 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(a)

(b)

Principal vs agent consideration

The Group engages in the provision of certain maintenance
services. At the acceptance of the services contract, the
Group liaises same service with service provider. Service
providers provide maintenance service to customer through
the maintenance period. The Group concluded that the Group
acts as the agent for such transactions as the Group is not
responsible for fulfiling the promise to provide the maintenance
service. The Group recognises trading revenue in the net amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled after
setting off the cost of service providers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised revenue relating to these maintenance services
amounted to approximately HK$154,000 (2022: HK$ Nil).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the receivable amount of the CGU to which goodwill has
been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use (“VIU”) or
fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”). The VIU calculation
requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate present value. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than the expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise. Calculation of fair value using a
market approach requires valuation technique which uses prices
and other relevant information generated by market transactions
involving identical and comparable groups of assets and liabilities
or business, a control premium and marketability discount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of goodwill (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the
reporting period was approximately HK$42,525,000 (2022:
HK$60,525,000) after an impairment loss of approximately
HK$18,000,000 (2022: HK$NIl) was recognised during the year.
Details of the impairment test for CGU containing goodwill are set
out in note 22.

Recoverability of intangible assets

The management has evaluated the impairment of intangible
assets by way of higher of VIU calculation by reference to the
discounted cash flows derived from financial budgets approved
by the management of the Group or FVLCD with reference to
the latest market transactions. If the higher of the VIU or FVLCD
is less than the corresponding carrying amounts, an impairment
loss may be required.

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability of its
internally-generated intangible assets arising from the Group’s
Computer and Mobile Phone Software development. The
projects continue to progress in a very satisfactory manner,
and customer reaction has reconfirmed the Group’s previous
estimates of anticipated revenues from the projects. Detailed
sensitivity analysis has been carried out and the Group is
confident that the carrying amount of the assets will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will be closely
monitored, and adjustments made in future periods, if future
market activity indicates that such adjustments are appropriate.

The carrying amount of development costs on Computer and
Mobile Phone Software at 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$109,588,000 (2022: HK$113,797,000) after an impairment
loss of approximately HK$6,638,000 (2022: HK$Nil) was
recognised during the year. Details of the impairment review refer
to note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

uﬂ'\

SMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets reflect
management’s estimation on the Group’s intention to
derive future economic benefits from the intangible assets.
The management performs annual reviews of whether the
assumptions made of useful lives continue to be valid. When
useful lives of intangible assets are different from those previously
estimated, the amortisation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2023
was approximately HK$109,588,000 (2022: HK$113,797,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets as at 31 December 2023 were approximately
HK$10,000 (2022: HK$648,000) and approximately HK$857,000
(2022: HK$347,000). An impairment loss of approximately
HK$559,000 (2022: HK$NIl) was recognised on property,
plant and equipment during the year. No impairment loss was
recognised on right-of-use assets during the year (2022: HK$NIl).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(f)

(¢)]

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market are determined
by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to
select and consider information from a variety of sources and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. Changes in these
estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on the
fair value of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market at the
end of the reporting period were approximately HK$1,013,000
(2022: HK$1,040,000) and approximately HK$3,971,000 (2022:
HK$3,886,000) respectively.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables and contract assets using a provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of
various debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based on the credit
risk of trade receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to changes in facts
and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$9,983,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of approximately HK$114,000) (2022:
HK$11,280,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HK$5,027,000)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(h)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$1,239,000 (2022:
HK$3,856,000) of income tax was charged to profit or loss
based on the estimated profit.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on
the results of the solely payments of principal and interest and
the business model test. The Group determines the business
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant
evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect
the performance of the assets and how these are managed and
how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial
assets at FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to their maturity to
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons
are consistent with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate
and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets. No such changes were required during the
periods presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The effect of the strengthened or weakened of Hong Kong dollars
against US$ on the loss after tax is not significant.

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of
share prices of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL. The directors review the exposure to the equity security
price risk on the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL regularly.

If the share prices of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL increase/decrease by 10% (2022: 10%), the
other comprehensive income and loss after tax for the year would
have been approximately HK$101,000 (2022: HK$104,000)
lower/higher and approximately HK$1,931,000 (2022:
HK$2,007,000) lower/higher respectively, arising as a result of the
fair value gain/loss of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Price risk (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group had concentration of equity
security price risk on one (2022: one) of its equity securities
investments which is classified as financial assets at FVTOCI
accounted for 100% (2022: 100%) of its financial assets at
FVTOCI and three (2022: three) of its listed investments which are
classified as financial assets at FVTPL accounted for 78% (2022:
75%) of its financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2023.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions and other financial instruments, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and derivative financial assets is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers and service providers, requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ and service providers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer and service provider
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer and service provider operate. Trade receivables are due
within 90 days from date of bilings negotiated on a case-by-case
basis. The directors are of the opinion that no further provision for
uncollectible receivables is required in the consolidated financial
statements. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral or
guarantee from customers and service providers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 82% (2022: 52%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL which is calculated using a
provision matrix on individual segment. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer and services provider
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
and service provider bases. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a simplified method. The Group has assessed
that the ECL for trade receivables based on individually significant
customer and service provider or ageing of customers and
service providers collectively that are not individually significant.
According to different segments of the Group which include the
following:

= Research, development and distribution of computer
and mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement
(“Software Business”)

= Provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services (“Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business”)

- E-commerce which involves the operation of a business-
to-customer online sales platform, and business-to-
business product trading (“B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business”)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HHBEEEIE @)
(c) Credit risk (continued) 0 FEERK @
Trade receivables (continued) ESEKIE (B)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREBTEAEER-_ZZ=F+2A2
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBULE ZEKHREN
December 2023: TEREERmIENEN
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE R MREREE EiaEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables 5 EKRRIE BAL FET FAET
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=F+ZHA=+—H
Software Business BT
Not past due AR 0% 8,798 =
Less than 1 month past due AHAR BB —E A 0% 79 =
1 to 3 months past due B —Z==EH 0% 63 =
More than 3 months but less AERABE=ESERBB
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0% 9 =
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 0% 6 =

Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR

I.T. Contract Services Business FEHNRSER
Not past due FRiEHA 8.7% 223 19
Less than 1 month past due BEArBB—EA 8.8% 191 17
1 to 3 months past due mi—ZE =18 10.0% 572 57
More than 3 months but less HHPBE = E A EREE

than 12 months past due +E@A 13.3% 156 21

10,097 114
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. MHBEEEIE @)
Credit risk (continued) ) EERK G
Trade receivables (continued) ESEKIE (B)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREBTEAEERZZZZF+ZA
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBULE ZEKHREN
December 2022; TEREERmIENEN
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TERRES IR LERRE(E EEigEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables 5 EKRRIE BAL FET FAET
At 31 December 2022 R _H+"-A=+—H
Software Business BMER
Not past due AR 0% - -
Less than 1 month past due AHAR BB —E A 0% 9,021 =
1 to 3 months past due B —Z==EH 0% 153 =
More than 3 months but less AERABE=ESERBB
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0% 5 =
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 0% 2 =
Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR
I.T. Contract Services Business FEHNRSER
Not past due FRiEHA 7.9% 630 50
Less than 1 month past due BEArBB—EA 8.0% 712 57
1 to 3 months past due mi—ZE =18 9.4% 314 29
More than 3 months but less HHPBE = E A EREE
than 12 months past due +E@A 17.7% 197 35
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C#d L iH & F &5 KB2B
B2B Product Trading Business EmBRER
Not past due FREHA 0% 417 =
Over 12 months past due BEABBE+ZEA 100% 4,856 4,856
16,307 5,027
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over
a period of 24 months before 31 December 2023 or 1 January
2023 respectively. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, other financial assets at
amortised cost mainly include loan receivables from Jun Yang
Energy Holdings Limited (“Jun Yang Energy”), amounts due from
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary and other miscellaneous
receivables.

For loan receivables and other receivables, the management
performed assessment on the recoverability of the outstanding
balance periodically.

The Group had assessed lifetime ECL on the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy following the significant deterioration in the
operating results of Jun Yang Energy during the year ended 31
December 2018 which lead to a significant increase in credit risk.
Lifetime expected credit loss allowance for the loan receivables
from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000 was recognised in full
during the year ended 31 December 2018 as the management
assessed the ECL rate to be 100%. The management has
reassessed the lifetime ECL of loan from Jun Yang Energy, no
reversal on the allowance for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

For other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa at 31 December 2023, the Group assessed lifetime ECL
throughout each reporting period by past experience. The lifetime
ECL of amounts due from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa as at 31 December 2023 are approximately HK$578,000
(2022: HK$860,000) and approximately HK$1,096,000 (2022:
HK$1,149,000) respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. MHBEEEIE @)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) EERK G
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) A ST BB MEE ()
For amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary, HREW—BHNBAB ZIEEKRERZR
the management makes periodic collective assessments as well 15> B2 E EH Y e WGRIERY B Uk B4 175
as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables. R8T R B RIS o iR ¥R 1218 B FEHA(E
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these receivables are BEEF AEECTEEBEZERIGR
not material under the 12-month expected credit losses method. ERNEHEEEBRITAEAR  AILHEE—
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised during the T FRIEITF+ZA=+—HIE
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. FEWERIEERE-
For other miscellaneous receivables, the management makes HREMBERKRRIE EEETHEZ
periodic collective assessments as well as an individual LRYGRIEN ARG ETER aTr EEZ
assessment on the recoverability of these receivables. No lifetime B G- BE_E =R _F__
expected credit loss allowance was recognised during the years +A=t+—HIEFEUEEBEEFE
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. HNEAGEEBERE
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and B 5 R H AU IR BB H RN EBM
other receivables is as follows: T
Other
receivables
from
Mr. Chan
Loan from Sze Long Other
Trade Jun Yang and Ms. Lim  miscellaneous
receivables Energy Wah Elsa receivables Total
%®E
REBMATER
EWER HEZLH Hitik1E
B A EKTRIE BERER  HtEKRIE FEBFRIE st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FTET FERT FERT F#ERT FERT
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZZ&—-B-A 7,329 27,230 2,450 2,393 39,402
Written off 6] (1) - - - (1)
Reversal | (2,281) - (441) - 2,722)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R ZZZZF+ZA=+—HEK
ke St < = 5,027 27,230 2,009 2,393 36,659
Written off isH (4,124) - - - (4,124)
Reversal b4 (789) - (335) - (1,124)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f+-A=+-8 114 27,230 1,674 2,393 31,411

The reversal of expected credit loss in B2C Online Sale
Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of approximately
HK$732,000 (2022: HK$2,205,000) and Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately
HK$57,000 (2022: HK$76,000) were due to the settlement of
long outstanding receivables during the year.

B2CHY L& 7 & %B2BE B 7 X7 U
ERE#EEBRRAPERENRE MRS
EHNTEHE ERBEREI 9 BI4732,000
BT (TR 2,205,00087T) B4
57,0003 70 (Z2 = 24 : 76,0003 7T) T4
AR EIRERKRFIEENAEELE (T
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HMBEREIE (&
(c) Credit risk (continued) 0 FEERK @
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) A ST BB MEE ()
The Group wrote off trade receivables in B2C Online Sales HRB2CHE LIH&E F & RB2BERE H %
Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of approximately BRI W E > AEEMEZSE
HK$4,124,000 since the recoverability of these debts was B 5 EURBR 494,124,000 7T
remote.
(d) Liquidity risk ) RBEERER
The Group’s objective and policy is to regularly monitor current AEMPBERBRATEREERRRTE
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains ARBREeRE  URREREMRESH
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the EREEPRERRSETRE-
short and longer term.
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash AERZITEEHMEBERESOFRITIA
flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows: REREZFBAIHAOT :
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and 5 years 5 years Total
DIME 1226 2E5E  BiEsE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TERT TET TET
At 31 December 2023 RZBEZ=%5+-B=+—-H
Trade and other payables B3 REMENTIE 7,562 - - - 7,562
Lease liabilities HEAaR 635 292 - - 927
At 31 December 2022 RIBEZZE+ZR=+-H
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 7,778 - - - 7,773
Borrowings fam 618 - - - 618
Lease liabilties HEaR 313 4 - - 317
(e) Interest rate risk e FIERER

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s significant interest-
bearing assets and liabilities are bank deposits and borrowings.

The Group’s interest income from bank deposits is dependent
on changes in market interest rates and will not have significant
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits and borrowings are at fixed

interest rates and therefore are subject to fair values interest rate
risk.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

A B ZER_E__HF+_B=1+—
B AEENERFEEERABRARERT
ER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. MHBEEEIE @)
()  Categories of financial instruments at 31 December Hh MRIZEZ=F+ZTHA=1+—HW=EH
2023 TEER
2023 2022
—E=H —EI
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Financial assets: EMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL: FHERiBm A FEEEN
THBE !
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEIEBBRUATEEE
— Held for trading —FEEE 23,125 24,037
Financial assets as FVTOCI: BEREMEEmBEUAAFEET
IRNESREE
Equity instruments BATHR 1,013 1,040
Financial assets measured at amortised cost Z# S AT EM SR B E 94,951 84,937
Financial liabilities: EREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BB A ENEMERE 7,562 8,373
Lease Liabilities HEa’d 879 317
(9) Fair values @ 2FEE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

FERGREHVBERNEATEMEERE
REENRAEERAZBENAFEER
%O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BEE_—F+"A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. AFEEFHE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to AEEBEETSSEEZBNFERHTEFR
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants SHHEEERKR N EREER I IHER-
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value TXHBERATFEESERTENLFEEH
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three S EQATFEENGHES ZHAZSBRRILESY A=
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: EARA -
Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—REARE . AEEIRFE2HHEEH
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can HEEEREENEES
access at the measurement date. HIRE R o
Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within FIMBMARE . BHEIHEENEEXEE
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, AIERM AR MIEE—
either directly or indirectly. BPTEIENIRE
Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. BoRPARE . BEEFEENTUEHEH
Ao
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out AEBNBRARIDEETERNEENSHHEL
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in HEBRYE ] = B AR BB A e 8 1B 0T ©
circumstances that caused the transfer.
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 @ MR+ZBE=1+t—HMATEEERIE
December: =
Fair value measurement using: Total
AT EENEFRAER . Wzt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
F—R BT F=k ZFI=H
Description HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
H#15 FHET FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAFEEHE :
Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL EREmUATEE
TR EREE
Listed equity securities EHRAES 19,154 - 3,970 23,124
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AE S = = 1 1
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEBEMEE W E
AT EESEN
THEE
Unlisted equity securities JEEmRAES - - 1,013 1,013
Total st 19,154 - 4,984 24,138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

December: (continued)

Description

B

RS M IR 5E

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETTAIm)

7. RFEESE @

@ R+ZBA=+—BHNATEESFHRIK

B:@®
Fair value measurement using: Total
NREEESNEMBRER raEt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
F—ik o R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET

Recurring fair value measurements:

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

Listed equity securities

Unlisted equity securities
Financial assets at FVTOCI

Unlisted equity securities

Total

BEEATEESE:

ERMEE
EEiEmUATEE
IR EREE

LA
JEETIRANEE
EBHMEEWE
AT EEYIRN
ETREE
JEETIRANEE

20,151

3,885 24,036

= S 1,040 1,040

it

20,151 4,926 25,077

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

REE_E_—Fkr-_T-__F+_8
=+—HEFE E—HR - FIBRE=
Rz L e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based (b)
on Level 3:

Financial assets at

ATEESE B

RIFB=RE A TEEFENEES
iR

2023
—E_=HF

FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
BREMZ2EEN
AT{EEFIIRA BEaEEU
ERMEE ATFEEFIRNEHEE
Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity
securities securities securities
LS L LS
R %5 N R A3 55
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH7 FH7 FH7
At 1 January 2023 RZBZ=F—H—H 1,040 3,885 1
Total losses recognised RTFEERANEEEE
~in profit or loss —1BH - 85 -
— in other comprehensive income —-Hf2@EKE (27) - -
At 31 December 2023 R_E2_=F+"A=1+—H 1,013 3,970 1
® Included in other gains and losses ® FAEMB R R EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based
on Level 3: (continued)

RS M IR 5E

BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

7. RFEESE @

(b)

RIEF =RBEATEEAENEEY
EE (n E)

2022
—E-"F

Financial assets at

FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
FREM2EE M
NFEETR EdEE
EREE NTEEYRNEREE
Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity
securities securities securities
E{alys} i) LM
A ES RAES RAES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER
At 1 January 2022 R_E__&—F—H 1,067 4,730 1
Total losses recognised RTHIEE BN IELE
—in profit or loss # — " = (849) -
~in other comprehensive income —-HtrzEE (27) - -
At 31 December 2022 RIE-_&
+ZBE=+—H 1,040 3,885 1
® Included in other gains and losses ‘”) sFAE MR R EE

The total gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in fair value change of equity instruments
at FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

The total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss including those
for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

REM2EERERDN NG, (§518) 288
RireiEm REMEERERPEBEM
EEREURTFEEIRNRETART
BEEZHZY-

RIBm MM e (B518) LREEENR

FHRRAAFEE NG BEERPHEMK
mREEEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 O = |

A1 #5 8RR Mt 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2023:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The management reviews the fair value measurements at least
once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
are mainly:

- risk free rate (estimated based on zero coupon rate)

= yield spread (estimated based on certain comparable
bonds)

- expected volatility (estimated based on historical volatility)

= dividend vyield (estimated based on no dividends will be
paid in the near future)

= present value of expected future share price (estimated
based on dividend yield is zero)

S probability-weighted profit

= discount factor

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

#

BTN

7.

ES

—EEHTTR=THILEFE

ATEESE B

()

WERERW S -_=F+"8
=+—HFrR&HERES  HESTE
ANFEEFT=FREAZIE .

FEEEEEEENMBREETEREE
ERBENATEENE (BEE=ZAA
TEEHS BEESFEEL AR
TEEE

HESRATREHBME ARE—H
SRMAGRT S RARAEEMEECH
SIS THEEE S

BZMATEBEAEMAIETIRER
ABBI2EE:
— ERREANEX REZERXRME)

— WS REE TR RESE
)

—  TEEIKOIE (RIRESERIBMEET)

- REXBREFABRTE
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(c)

ke,
e BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. ATEEE @
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (o0 WEXRERNR_ZT_=F+"8
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value =+—HFR&HERR EHERT A
measurements at 31 December 2023: (continued) ANEEEFEFMREARE | (@
Level 3 fair value measurements BZRAFIBEE
Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2023 2023
BAREEN REfE ATEE
b fhfER BARE BE HATEENFE ZECCE Skt
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
FRERNATEETR
NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057  Increase 3,970 3,970
Return on relevant (1.83%)  Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 15%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 00578 &M
BT BEHER (1.83%)  1&m
MEMTRE 5% HD
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1 1
securities Return on relevant (62.78%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JELmRAES Bk RE 01678 1B
TR SEEER (62.78%)  1&MN
MEMTRE 3% HD
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANGENAT
BEIENEREE
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,013 1,013
securities Return on relevant (62.78%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JEEmkAES H(EE KB 01678 &M
BB mBEHER (62.78%) 1210
MENMATIRE 3% ED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2023: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

BE_E-_=#+_A=1+—HILEE

(UBTEAIT)
7. AFEESE G

© WMEFEER_ZT_=

F+-A

=+—BFRMERR GERMT R
ATHEESEFMABARE (@

BRI TIEEE (B

Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique  Inputs Range  of inputs 2022 2022
BAHEEM REE ATEE
Hik hERds BARE #E HATEENYE “ECCE “ETE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BBRBHEUATEEIR
NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057  Increase 3,885 3,885
Return on relevant (5.28%)  Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 15%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 00578 &M
BT BEHER (6.23%)  1&m
MEMTRE 8% "D
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1 1
securities Return on relevant (68.93%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JELmRAES Bk RE 01678 BN
TR SEEER (58.93%) 11N
MEMTRE 3% AL
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANGENAT
BEIENEREE
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,040 1,040
securities Return on relevant (68.93%) Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—F EmRAES RUERE KE 01678 &M
TR EAER (58.93%) 12
MENMATIRE 3% AL

135 HSERBEMAT 2023FH



For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8.

REVENUE

(@

Disaggregation of revenue

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

CUBTEIR)
8. WA
@

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

service line for the year is as follows:

LN 1bs)

FRRRBEIDNZRENRANT ¢

2023 2022
== TEoCE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers & B FEIRE D) F159F
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HBEANETRSHKA
Sales of computer and mobile phone SHE B R REN B LUK
software and toolbar advertisement TERES 81,847 85,770
Provision of corporate management REPEEERMAFTER
solutions and I.T. contract services BRI S0RBER
business 10,391 15,169
E-commerce which involves the operation TEHEEERLHEFAR
of a business-to-customer online sales TrEHTPEERESEEN
platform, and the business-to-business BTFEH
product trading 122 5,089
92,360 106,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BETZ_ =G+ A=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA @
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (continued) @ WARD @
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AEBUUATFEERGRMIBEIHK—
services over time and at a point in time in the following major BREEREEFEREEEE R RRTES
product lines and geographical regions: WA

Corporate Management Solutions and ~ B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B

Software Business 1T. Contract Services Business Product Trading Business Total
HE
For the year ended +-B=+-A TEERRARER BCELHETAR
31 December Jlz:3:4 RiER ERGECHLGED BBEREAEHE o
2028 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
k- S ECF - St ECF k- S EICF k- S ECF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TiEn TEn TiEn TER TR TEn TER TEn
Primary geographical markets ~ +EHE 17
- United States -2 36,090 33,984 - - 1 660 36,091 34,644
- Hong Kong &% 450 918 10,391 15,169 9 1 10,850 16,088
- Germany -8 5,131 6,872 - - - 3B 5,131 6,905
- United Kingdom -5 5,626 5496 - - - 1 5,626 5497
- Japan -Bx 2823 3845 - - - 83 2,823 3928
- Canada -mgx 2832 2812 - - - 80 2,832 2892
- Australia — B 2,659 2,623 - = - ) 2,659 2,668
- Russia -fEH 14 666 - - 25 1,259 39 1,925
- Mainland China ~HE 576 579 - = - 1 576 580
- Others ~Eft 25,646 21975 - - 87 2,926 25,733 30,901
Segment revenue fom extermal - SMRZEHHMA
customers 81,847 85,770 10,391 15,169 122 5,089 92,360 106,028
Timing of revenue recognition A RS2
Products and senices ranslered  ERRERHRE—HE
at apoint in time = 81,847 85,770 6,461 8432 122 5,089 88,430 99,291
Products and senvices ranslered  ERRERHR—EAE
over time HESRE = S 3,930 6,737 - - 3,930 6,737
Total & 81,847 85,770 10,391 15,169 122 5,089 92,360 106,028
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8. REVENUE (continued)

(b)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December
2023 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E
BT =G+ A=1+—HIFE
CLETTAIm)

8. WA (®

b) PEEFERENFGRERAOEENRS
BEig
RIE_=F+_A=+—B9EEFE
BHEME KRBT RET NRXZE
R FBEAM A R SREEREIUNE

Sale of goods I.T. contract services

HEGR EREE ]
2023 2022 2023 2022
—TZ= “E-F —F-= -
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
Within one year R—ER 225 225 432 1,210
More than one year but not more BB —EBFBBME
than two years - - 129 349
225 225 561 1,559
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfthlkA
2023 2022
—ZET=F BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Bank interest income IRITFI B WA 1,666 277
Commission income A ’A - 188
Dividend income AR B U 231 177
Government grants (note (i) B 8D (BEEG) - 456
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets RILFREESEZ W& - 1
Rebate from a supplier kE—HEER 2B 419 =
Sundry income HIEWA 215 33
2,531 1,132
note (): During 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding WEE): M2 ZF  AEEERIIAEBFHITE

support from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong SAR Government.
The purpose of the funding was to provide financial support
to enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the
employees.

BHFRINBEIEES TiEHORMES
BIRFEY -BUEETEEEBORERHY
Bk UFREJESRENNES - RIER
RER AEBRHBABNEHE > WAE
FrEHEBETARNSNEETIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES), NET

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

10. EHfthkzm K (§518) > 358

11.

2023 2022
—E-F —EIHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Foreign exchange loss, net PERESIR > 258 (35) (900)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FEBBEmUATFEEY RN SR/
BEATFEBERE (1,109) (6,604)
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEY % BB R HEHNEE - (535)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 22) EEREEE (fPE22) (18,000) -
Impairment loss on intangible asset (note 23) ‘BT EE ZREEE (15E23) (6,638) -
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment ¥ % B E R 52 2 BEEE
(note 20) (F5E20) (559) -
(26,341) (8,039)
SEGMENT REPORTING 11. PDEPERE

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines and geographical locations. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has four (2022: four) reportable segments.

- Software Business

- Securities Investment (“Securities Investment Business”)

- Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business

- B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

FEBZRMPIEEAES HEFERMER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

— Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, finance costs and income tax
expense.

- Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of other corporate
assets.

- Segment liabilities include all current and non-
current liabilities with the exception of accrued central
administration costs and liabilities.

Inter-segment revenue is priced with reference to prices charged
to external customers for similar orders.

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

BTN

1. DEEHRS (@)

@

DEFEE-BERER

EENBZ B BERD LGRS HBREN

SE4PTIME AR

REEDBRRRDEDBZENER :

-  FRIoEEF, (B8 HELE
DI RITEA A BRE AL A K PR
BMFA T 25885 8 FF BEUE

A/ (HIRESIE) -

- SOWEECEMEELEE -BE
BEERGTHEE EAEEHEMD

- DNEEEEEmMAERSAIERSE
B ERBIEEE R RITEAER

affe

DEEWRATISERBALETERSIRZ R

WERRIERREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

11.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BETE_—F+_A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. SE}/RSE @)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a DHEE BEREEEB)
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment results, assets and BREDHHAEEANREDTEE - E
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: ERBEIHOT
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TRER B2CHL
BARER HETAR
BEARRASD B2BER
REEE  ESREER e Ba%% @t
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
ZEI=f k- St k- St ZEI=f k- St
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAER TR TR TR TET
Revenue WA
Revenue from external customers SHREBWA 81,847 - 10,391 122 92,360
Results 25
Segment results EES (8,382) (944) 483 (978) (9,821)
Reconciliation: HER .
Interest income FIEBA 1,666
Unallocated amounts FAEEE
- Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables —EfENTE R ESBEE 335
- Corporate expenses —hERT (12,176)
Loss from operations REFE (19,996)
Finance costs BENA (100)
Loss before tax L (20,096)
Income tax expense FrieiieEx (1,239)
Loss for the year FEERR (21,335)

(@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. SE}/RSE @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (@ PHEE - BEREE B
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment results, assets and BREDHHAEEANREDTEE - E
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) ERBEATNT | (@
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
LEER B2CH L
BARER HETER
EfHESH BBER
REER  ESREER PR 5% Ba%% @it
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
ZEI=f k- St k- St k- St k- St
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TET TR TR
Assets BE
Segment assets NHEE 171,274 24,649 12,025 11,275 219,023
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated assets FOEEE
— Property, plant and equipment W& BERRE 8
- Right-of-use assets ~ERREE 857
- Trade and other receivables -EBRAMBRNE 579
- Cash and cash equivalents -ReRELEEN R
Total assets BERE 272,946
Liabilities af
Segment liabities ABaE 48,018 60 3325 386 51,789
Reconciliation: HiR:
Unallocated liabilties FAEGR
- Trade and other payables -8R RAMENTE 1,004
- Lease liabiities -HE&E 879
Total liabilities BEEE 53,672
Other segment information: HitH &k
Amortisation of intangible assets BN EESE (40,696) - - - (40,696)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment N BERRBERE - - @ = @
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FpBEm AT EESRN
SHEENATEESE - (1,109) - - (1,109)
Legal and professional fees HEEREEER (116) = (#1) (43) (200)
Reversal of impalrment loss on trade receivables BRRWRS 2 AESERED - - 57 732 789
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZAERR (18,000) - - - (18,000)
Impairment loss on intangible asset BNEEZRESSR (6,638) - - - (6,638)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment W& RERREZAESE - - - (559) (559)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘7|'\

SMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets and
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued)

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

LETTHIT)
11. DEHRSE @
(@) DEPELE

EERERE @

BBEDHHAEMNREDHESE B
ERBEIFUT : (@

Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Senvices  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TEEE B2CH £
BARER HETAR
BHRHEH B2BE®R
hER  ESREER RHER BREH st
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
EICE EICE EICE EICE “BICE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR FET FET
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers SREEUMA 85,770 - 15,169 5,089 106,028
Results 25
Segment results e 22,638 6517) 1373 (3,806) 13,688
Reconciliation: HiR:
Interest income FIS KA 217
Other income HitgA 193
Unallocated amounts FRESE
- Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables ~EfENE R ESBEE 441
- Corporate expenses —h¥EY (11,987)
Proft from operations =gl 2,612
Finance costs HERA (144)
Profit before tax RRARATRR 2,468
Income tax expense Figiims (3,856)
Loss for the year FEEBR (1,388)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DEHRS @)
(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) @@ NHEE BEKREEG
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment results, assets and BREDHHAEEANREDTEE - E
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) ERBEATNT | (@
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
DEER B2CHEL
BARER HETAR
Rl BBER
BhEE  ESREER RHBER EDES it
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
S S S S _EC &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Assets BE
Segment assets NHEE 196,346 32,320 14,755 13,823 257,244
Reconciliation: B
Unallocated assets FAREE
- Right-of-use assets —FREEE 347
- Trade and other receivables -ERREMENTE 654
- Cash and cash equivalents -RERREEEN 43,292
Total assets BERE 301,537
Liabilities aff
Segment liabities AuaE 46,756 60 6,492 1,008 54,33
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated fabilties FNREE
~ Trade and other payables -BRREMEMNTE 1019
- Lease liabilities -HEEE 317
Total liabilities ElEEE 55,672
Other segment information: Hitt3 &R
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BENRE - - 2 664 666
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (35,911) - - - (35,911)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment NE -BEREZENE S S (113) (65) (178)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREBENE = = (6) - (6)
Development costs capitalised RERAERE (46,856) - - - (46,856)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FRERUATERIIEN
SHEENATEESE - (6,604) - - (6,604)
Legal and professional fees PRESEES L (52) 27 - (12) )
Reversal of impalrment loss on trade receivables BARRABSRAR - - 76 2,205 2,281
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. oEF®SE @

(b) Geographical information b) HE=HR

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and (ii)
the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and goodwill (“specified non-current assets”).
The geographical location of revenue is based on the location of
customers and location of service rendered. The geographical
location of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets and the location of the
operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible
assets and goodwill.

TREJBR)EERKBINAETLHUR
AR (A E BB E -~ BB Kkt~ £ F
REE -BLEERBE (BREFRBE
1) Nt B - IRARMIBUEDUR
FRUBREERFHUESEE -FE
FERBEENMIEUERRIEEEBRAR

BROIE (B ME k&

REBREREER

B REDREFNUE WBRTEER

HE) EE-

Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
SHREFWA BEERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
I T -HE IZEI=ZH T CE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
Hong Kong &5E 10,850 16,089 152,980 174,673
United States x 36,091 34,248 - =
Russia BN 39 1,926 - =
Japan [SEN 2,823 3,928 - =
Germany = 5,131 6,905 - =
United Kingdom HE 5,626 5,496 - -
Canada MEX 2,832 2,892 - -
Australia B 2,659 2,668 - =
Mainland China D Py 3 576 580 - 644
Others Hith 25,733 31,296 - -
92,360 106,028 152,980 175,317
(c) Information about major customers 0 EHRAFrEEFFMER

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no individual
customer contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. RERE
2023 2022
—s-=% —mo—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 21) HEaBZFERE (sEe1) 48 26
Interest on other borrowings HhEHF 8 52 118
100 144

13.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax has been arrived at after charging/

13. FRiRAT (5518) iEF

AEBERRA (B18) OaF B GIA) WM

(crediting) the following: T
2023 2022
—F-= BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
()  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration): BT A
(BIEEEHD) -
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMET 11,588 14,980
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEIERR 468 1,156
12,056 16,136
(b)  Others items: Hhigg .
Amortisation of intangible assets* B E 40,696 35,911
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMBN &
— Audit services - BIZRFE 1,000 1,002
— Non-audit services - IEBIZARTS 498 460
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment ME--BERZEITE 69 183
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEEINE 659 736
Impairment loss on goodwill¥ e EEE 18,000 =
Impairment loss on intangible asset* mLEE 2 RERE 6,638 -
Impairment loss on property, ME-BERKREZ
plant and equipment* BB B 559 =
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and B 5 KR EAMERRIB
other receivables BB EE D (1,124) (2,722)

i Included in other gains and losses

Included in administrative expenses

# STAE MR &SR

- STAITER X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(@) Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

CLETAIm)

14. FRSMAX

@ HEBREmANDERNERE:

2023 2022
—EC-=F TETTF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Current tax EHRNIE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —EEBFER
Provision for the year (note (i) REEEE (HEE) 1,618 1,926
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEREEEBEBTIE/
prior years (FBRE#EE) 166 (32)
— Withholding tax (note (ii)) —Fain GEEk) 150 156
1,934 2,050
Deferred tax (note 34(a)) IRIERIE (MI5E34(a)) (695) 1,806
1,239 3,856
note ():  Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of MIEEG):  REBEMAGIREREE > REBRIL
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong NEERERBIRNE2,000,000%
will be subject to a tax rate of 8.25%, and profits above that Toim A IL8.25% I EHAR > i
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of BZEEEZ R AR LL16.5% MR =
the Group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax rate oA amBREFERHIEZER
regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%. BREMNGEN B EEIL16.5%N TR
o
Under the law of the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT REBEPEAREMNBECEMBERZE
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the (T EFEBRE) REEMBERE
relevant tax rate for the subsidiary in the PRC is 25%. However, BHEG > PEMNE AT NERRE
no provision was made for the financial years ended 31 #25% © AT > AN A FEM B AR E
December 2023 and 2022 as the subsidiary incurred tax loss SREFE RIERBEE S "=
for the years. FERZEZZE+ZA=+—HLWLH
BEEEHEE-
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate BN B ABIMNRIEN IR AERE
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries in which BAEARBBERNIRE A6 2B
the Group operates based on existing legislation, interpretation 1BEZBIRITERNRESE -
and practices in respect thereof.
note (i):  Withholding tax, regarding the external sales for which MIEE(): MEAUREBRINE L ETINAHEE

customers are located outside Hong Kong, is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in relevant countries.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EE——
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E

F+R=1T—HLFE

14. FRISMAXZ (@)

The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product (o) PSR ERRRATBERUERRNERS
of loss before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is as HZHERNT -
follows:
2023 2022
== TETTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax bR (B518) A F) (20,096) 2,468
Notional tax credit on loss before IR EA16.5% 5T HHI BRI AT
tax, calculated at the rate of BIELERRIEIRR
16.5% (3,316) 407
Income tax on concessionary rate REBEMEFENMENR (165) (165)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERRUBANREZE (1,255) (292)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible < 5] #1388 2 FIFR 75 52 £ 3,306 343
Tax effect of temporary differences RERYREENREE
not recognised 170 930
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised R HESE R IR TERS BRI 75 2 £ 2,239 2,752
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not B IBE KRR RIEGIENRTE
previously recognised A (54) (210)
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years 3BT FEE B E T,/ (BRERE) 166 32
Withholding tax FEINM 150 156
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries WEABREMENFTE (2 (33)
Income tax expense FriSiiBE < 1,239 3,856
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BETZ_ =G+ A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 15. mE#AL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022: two) of FRaReFTMATER Efhme (T2
them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 16. The F MR B )\i%%% EJH%EEAWDEW
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2022: HEE o T %H‘Af% (CEBEZZHF =) BB
three) highest paid individuals are as follows: N LHVEN AR EE -
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FET
Salaries and other emoluments e REMBE 2,757 2,668
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIERR 54 54
2,811 2,702
The emoluments of the three (2022: three) individuals with the highest =% (_giifﬁ [ =8) REHMA TR EN
emoluments are within the following bands: TRTHEE :
2023 2022
ZET=HF T
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AN
HKS$NIl to HK$ 1,000,000 Z B 721,000,000 70 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77t % 1,500,00078 7T 1 1
3 3
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments BHEZR=FRIZEZ"H+-A=+—HIk
were paid by the Group to any of the highest paid individuals as an FE > AEBFATEAEMARS A LA
inducement to join the Group, or as compensation for loss of office HENEAIIA R EE N RZENS(EA BB /HE -

during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(@

Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of each director was as follows:

RS M IR 5E

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETTAIm)

16. EFEF KRiEHR
(@ EFHEN

BEEHMOT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEAREEE (FRATADHERBATER) BEEHRRKNHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary  Share based scheme 2023
fees in kind bonuses payments contributions Total
e 2R BARg 1R ZECZ=H
EENE BYWF = HEBTEAL AERMZM BAGEIHER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET TET THET THET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong HERZRE - 1,248 - - 18 1,266
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong 2kERE - 1,128 180 - 18 1,326
Independent non-executive directors BUEHITES
Mr. Chan Yung BRERE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei WEHLE 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Wong Chi Yan (note (i) BEBLL (i) 120 - - - - 120
360 2,376 180 - 36 2,952
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(@) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

BE_B_=F+"_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

16. EFENRED (@)

EEHM (@

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FEAEEEE FRAFAFHENBATEY BHEEARRENHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary  Share based scheme 2022
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
A 1) BARE AR -8
Erika BRI WETAL ARENIM  RIAKEHEER 4ozt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT FET FET TET
Executive directors HiTESR
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BEERE - 1,200 - - 18 1,218
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong kEERE - 1,080 180 - 18 1,278
Independent non-executive directors HiFHITES
Professor Chui Tsan Kit (note (i) RIRGER (F3E0) 36 - - - - 36
Mr. Chan Yung BELE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei WEHLE 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Wong Chi Yan (note (i) BEBLL (i) 84 - - - - 84
360 2,280 180 = 36 2,856
Notes: Mk -
0] Professor Chui Tsan Kit resigned as independent non-executive (i) BRBREHERZE - “FNA+ LB
director on 19 April 2022. ERIIEMITES -
(ii) Ms. Wong Chi Yan was appointed as independent non-executive (ii) BRERZIRIEZFMOMA+ALBE

director on 19 April 2022.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received any termination
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company did
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, bodies corporate
controlled by entities connected with such directors

As at 31 December 2023, there are no loans, quasi-loans or
other dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and the directors’ connected entities (2022: None).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E

BE_SE-_=#+"_A=1+—HILEE

CLETTAIm)

16. EFENRED (@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

EENX S ZHREGHNEAEDR

QB AL EEET I B R S A AR
BMEN BAEREFAEMMALDESR
REZEZHEANTERIHRESEAR
TENEARRZ ZHHEH -

EEREER

Bz =F+_FA=+—HUFE>
BEARABEFTWREARERN CF
TTFIE e

MESEFRBMRASZ =SRERE

BE_S_=5+"_A=1+—HILEE"
FARUBNESEETREMEERNE=
AENRECEI2F 1 8) -
ERmMEERAZSTEFZTAMENE
BEFTEERIREBIR M AR EEMH
ETHMZZHNER

RIE_=F+_"_FA=+—H WMERE
B HESMN AR R EESNREERIRM
B EBERGETHEMNRS (T2

Fifmo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$NIl).

18. LOSS PER SHARE
(@) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

CUBTTEIT)
17. K2

EEfEREMEE_S_=F+"A=+—HIt
FERCEANRE CE2Z-F : T870) -

18. ERREIE
@ SREAEE

SREXBREDBRELAFEEARBEAA
e RN B BT EEROMETI9REK

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. FHEo
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Loss E5i8
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KRBVEENEERBESE
and loss for the purpose of calculating basic SREREBENEE
loss per share (23,415) (8,059)
’000 ‘000
TFh& A&
Number of shares KHER
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BIEstEEREREEN
for the purpose of calculating basic loss per EiBRMETERE
share 444,448 444,448
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BREAREE GBI (5.27) (1.81)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 355 ¥R R B 5

FH"A=1+—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(o) Diluted loss per share

HE

—— =

. ——

CLETTAIm)

18.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, as the Company did
not have any outstanding dilutive potential ordinary shares during

the years.

19. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

19.

Tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income for the

=
T E

FhiiEsiE (8

b) Sk#EEE

REEE> AR ABMETABETE
EHETER W ERAEEE_T =
FR_ F+_A=+—HIEMEE

ENEREREGER

&= — —

A ——

Hh 2wk

FEEHAMEERDSEEAMINBLE

year:
2023 2022
ZZT=E -
Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
amount expenses amount amount expenses amount
TR ] RERZ G35k ] IS B IiaeE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TiET TiET THET
Financial assets at FVTOCI FBEM2 ARG
AT BETIRD
EHMEE
Fair value changes ATEEES
- Equity instruments -BATA 27) - (27) (27) - 27)
Exchange differences on translation of T &SN B AR B H R E
financial statements of overseas EEMNERES
subsidiaries 27 - 27 60 - 60
- - - 33 - 33
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE_B_=F+"_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

20. ME - -BEKRSZE

Computer
Leasehold Office hardware and Motor
improvements equipment software vehicle Total
HEmE WAE BRwEH
% RfE REH RE EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TAnr TER FHET
Cost 778
At 1 January 2022 RZE__&—HF—H 316 282 2,085 980 3,663
Additions 7%% - - 666 - 666
Disposal HE - - (557) (980) (1,537)
Exchange adjustment ERHEE = 5 (42) S (42)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 e ?:: +ZB=+-H
kZBZ=%—-fA—H 316 282 2,152 - 2,750
Additions RE - 8 - - 8
Exchange adjustment ERHEE - 5 (19 S (19
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+"A=+-H 316 290 2,133 - 2,739
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ BiHTERH{E
At 1 January 2022 RZZE__&#—HA—H 316 279 1,601 708 2,904
Charge for the year KEETH - 3 71 109 183
Written back on disposals HESEE - - (135) (817) (952)
Exchange adjustment ERBE = = (33) - (33)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RIE-_&+_H E —H
&73:_?& A— 316 282 1,504 - 2,102
Charge for the year FEETH - - 69 - 69
Impairment losses AEGE - - 559 - 559
Exchange adjustment ERBE = = (1) - (1)
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+"B=1+-H 316 282 2,131 - 2,729
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=£+_A=+-A - 8 2 - 10
At 31 December 2022 RIE_"&#+°A=1+-H - - 648 - 648

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the management assessed
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group and recognised impairment loss of approximately HK$559,000
in respect of computer system of B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B
Product Trading Business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

i

BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

RS M IR 5E

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. FRAEEE

Office Office
equipment premises Total
WMAERE MAEYE Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
At 1 January 2022 R_E_"&F—HF—H 120 1,046 1,166
Depreciation e (20) (716) (736)
Termination ®ik (83) - (83)

At 31 December 2022 and WS- _F#+_-_A=+—H

1 January 2023 r—_E-_=5—H—H 17 330 347
Addition RE - 1,169 1,169
Depreciation e (14) (645) (659)
At 31 December 2023 RZIBZ=&+”"A=+—H 3 854 857

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$879,000 (2022: HK$317,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$857,000 (2022: HK$347,000) as at 31 December 2023. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and leased assets are not

RIEZI=F+ZH=+—H BIEEEEDN
879,000/ 7T (ZZ - "4 : 317,000 t) * &
FR49857,00078 7T (Z = = Z4F | 347,000/ 7T) &
@ﬂﬂ%é}xﬁﬁﬁ AERE I EMNE AR m

used as security for borrowing purposes. EEENTRBIEERERER
2023 2022
T =F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FREESENERS 659 736
Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in B EHE GTARERA)
finance costs) 48 26
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in f8HATE EABRARISX GTABREEYAIZE
cost of goods sold and administrative expenses) &17E B ) 252 335
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets wIEFREEEZ Wm - 1

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 40(b).

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of one year to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
assessed the recoverable amount of CGU of all components, no
impairment loss in respect of right-of-use assets was recognised.

EERE MBS IBHI I FE40(0)

RmEFEE AEEEEZLERAEYERRA
ERBFEERR - HEGNENT —EERLF
ZEEFAIL - HERMIHEE R ERE L5
7 BESENRERRE M o R EE R R
AT HEENRER  AEBEAANNE
FILHEE P RFINITEAIRAR™ -

RBEE_E =R _F+-_H=+—
HIEFE AEBBEHEFAEMESIREEN
BT R CI 3R - W SR M R R B AR E
He
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —FE+"HA=1+—HIEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (M%E@J/T\)
22, GOODWILL 2. BHE
Corporate
Management
Solutions and
L.T. Contract
Software Business Services Business
(note a) (note b) Total
EEEERAR
HRREMRE
B ES AHRBES
(Msta) (Fit3Eb) ax
Boom Max
International Limited
(“Boom Max”)
and its subsidiaries
(collectively
referred to as
“Boom Max Group”) Wafer HK
Boom Max
International Limited
("Boom Max )
REMBAR
(4787 Boom Max
£M) BEEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FET AT
Cost A
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RI2ZZF-F—B-Z2°ZF
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 +ZB=+—-HB-ZZZ=%—-K
—BERZEZ=F+°A=1+-H 757,662 20,913 778,575
Accumulated impairment losses ZitRERR
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022and  WZE-__&H—F—HA\ZT-"F
1 January 2023 +ZA=+—-HRZZZ=F
—A—H 706,496 11,554 718,050
Impairment loss recognised BREDAEEE 18,000 - 18,000
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=F+"A=+—H 724,496 11,554 736,050
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+"A=+-H 33,166 9,359 42,525
At 31 December 2022 RZE__&+”-B=+—H 51,166 9,359 60,525

Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition,
to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business

combination.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

BREFBAHIBNEEREER DEE4RER
R R BN ZEGAHNREELE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22,

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment
of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU,
including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are the higher of the VIU and the
FVLCD.

The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited
(“Ascent Partners”), an independent professional valuer, to determine
the recoverable amount of the CGUs of the Software Business and
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services Business
as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

(a) CGU of Boom Max Group

The Group determined the recoverable amounts of the Boom
Max Group’s CGU on the basis of their VIU (2022: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are consistent with last year
which are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the year. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which
the businesses of the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and
revenue are based on past performance and expectations on
market development.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rates as stated below. These rates do
not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets.

RS M IR 5E

BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

22,

HE (8
EEBENREERBETRERS

RIEEB G EREREERE BEDAEZ
ﬁ%éﬁ%ﬁ”@EL TRENR REETR
FERER AIBBHILRS
éﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬁﬁ(?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁz
FIUR Ol &R

@ﬁ§%~%¥ R EREEEREN
éﬁ%?M%ﬁééﬂ@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁ%ﬁ
A HE T LUETRIERT 4 o

REEHBTNAWLSEREREERATE
BERHEREZRSE

AEECEZEE I EEGEMIATESEAER
ANE(TXF)) BEERHEBURCESERR
FEREMARESHNRBEEENReELETR
TR+ A=+—HRERIZEZIZTHE+ZA
=+—HWAJ U EIEEE

@  Boom MaxZE[EFH 3z EHE T

AEERBRRRERELIZAFHER
(ZZ2ZZ&F £ AEE) #EEBoom Max
SERSEHE TN KNEIESEE AHIRIA
iqu&E’JEE;z EX f,—ﬁffﬁ_:tﬁz Tﬁﬁiﬂf
ARBEIRE R REEMURTBEEFNE R
AF R o A& B R A BRAR AT EL 34 5T A5 IR
oz RAI b ERMIBSEHETMNE
BEREREFERBNRETST G- ERE
ENLRBRESEHBE EBKEMTE
NEATFHCELEREXRGSE - BEEMNZE
RWATERIEERBRDIZEEER
o

RAERARTNS AEBERNRSHE
B R R B RN R RS
BE MR TR AN T Rt
HoREHETRBAEMTRNTHE
R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14 AN

S M5 R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Boom
Max Group are as follows:

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

BTN

22, HE

BEHENREELETRER

@

(&)

Dit (nﬁ)

Boom Max%= [B 59332 Z 1 #E T (#)

Boom Max(E@EREEHEBTHNFEREE
STEFERANEEEROT

Boom Max Group
Boom Maxt£E

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

—ET=HF B

t=A=+—H +=A=+—H~H

Gross margin ESTIES 80.52%-80.53% 80.20%
Growth rate EX 2.31% 2.48%
Discount rate FhIR= 17.73% 16.90%

As at 31 December 2023, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group was valued at approximately HK$169,168,000 which
was lower than the carrying amount of this CGU, due to various
factors including the increase in development expenditure, the
volatility of the global economy and the keen market competition
in the I.T. market. The CGU of Boom Max Group had been
reduced to its recoverable amount and the Group recognised an
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$18,000,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The impairment loss
was included in other gains and losses.

As at 31 December 2022, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group is valued at approximately HK$220,384,000. As the
recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom Max Group exceeded
its carrying value as at 31 December 2022, no impairment was
required for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

RIEBEZI=F+ZA=1+—8>&82FX
FHEHBIETE T > Boom MaxEEIRE EH
B oAV A UL Bl & RERYfH B4V 7%5169,168,000
B BERESEREcNREER
BRESERER (BEREZ HIGM  2IRE
i &%ﬁ&ﬁnﬂﬂﬁﬂ?iﬂ%ﬁ%%&ﬂ) FrEg e
qHE =+ RAE=E+—BLEEE
Boom Max%@iﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁmiﬁﬁu&
& EURTERRIEEREREBELY
18,000,000 7t © B{E 8T A E i &=
K518

RIEZIZHF+ZA=+—8 > &82FXL
FHEH BT - Boom MaxEE IR E H
B oAV A] UK [B] & RERYfH 4V %3220,384,000
B0 ° FitBoom MaxEBIESEHE TR
TR CFE+ A=+ —HWAKREEEE
BHERERE WEE_T_F+=A
=+—HIEFEBEELRE-



For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

®)

CGU of Wafer HK

As at 31 December 2023, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of the CGU of Wafer HK based on VIU (2022: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount
rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover
during the year. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-
tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth
rates are based on long-term average economic growth rate
of the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGU
operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past
practices and expectations on market development.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group engaged
Ascent Partners in assisting to assess the recoverable amount
of the CGU of Wafer HK. Pursuant to the valuation report from
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of Wafer HK as at
31 December 2023 was approximately HK$10,100,000 (2022:
HK$12,000,000) which was higher than its carrying value, no
impairment was required for the year.

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Wafer HK
are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

BTN

22, HE

(&)

LB ENReERENRENR (@

®)

BB E L ET

A TEC=F+A=+—H &TEER
BEREE CR2F  £HER® KA
MRRERELEEHMEEBREELE
TR AW 2E - BIRIR S R B AR R
BRREAFRE BERRAFEMNE UK
FREXBAMH AEREEARRATER
EERIRE ZRMA LR RIS ED
BrmEERERSEREBIRE ST
o BREDNRBIREE LB TEREE
FREtENRATFHEEERIAE A
BENXREXBEDENBERRERTS
LEMAE R

A CERCECE+_A=+—
B AEEBZEYAGBIEHRETEN
BeEHB NI WREZE - RIEIAN
FERS REESEN -T2 -=F+-A8
=+—B8AK[EE£EE44910,100,0008 7T
(=T 4 112,000,000 7T) ' BRE

ERNREE FLAFEEHRFELRE-

BESARETELBNEREESERE
ANFERENOT :
Wafer HK
BEER
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—EC=HF TETTF
+=-B=+—H +ZB=+—H

Gross margin FEF|=
Growth rate BREX
Discount rate ARIR=

With all other variables held constant, if the gross margin used
in the value-in use calculation were decreased to 26.11% (2022:
27.97%-28.79%), then the management estimates the headroom
would drop to zero as at 31 December 2023.

26.4%-27.24%
2.31%
17.28%

29.17%-30.00%
2.48%
16.42%

EFEEMEERFAENBERT M
HERBEAERERNENETRE
26.11% (T T~ —F 1 27.97%E28.79%) »
QBB _E_=F+-_A=+—
BRGRERRES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BHE_S_—Ft+_F=1+—HIFE
BTN

23. EREE

Development
costs on
computer and
mobile phone

software
(note (a))
B R RED
B
ESE o #:N
(F¥zE(@))
HK$’000
FET
Cost 2723
At 1 January 2022 = — ey = R = 308,252
Additions through internal development EBNEEZARE 46,856
At 31 December 2022 and RZE__#+”-B=+—H
1 January 2023 R-E-=£—F—H 355,108
Additions through internal development ERNEFEERE 43,125
At 31 December 2023 W2 =F+"F=+—H 398,233
Accumulated amortisation and HeHB RO ERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 R_E__F£—HA—H 205,400
Amortisation iy 35,911
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 W_E - —F+_-_B=+—Hkk
—E-=F#—HF—H 241,311
Amortisation iy 40,696
Impairment losses REESE 6,638
At 31 December 2023 RW_ZE_=F+"FB=+—H 288,645
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2023 HRZIEZ=F+=ZHA=+—H 109,588
At 31 December 2022 N2 __F+_-_HB=+—H 118,797

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The capitalised development costs for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 represented the expenditure incurred for developing
computer and mobile phone software.

The average remaining amortisation period of the computer and mobile
phone software is four years (2022: four years).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
development costs on computer and mobile phone software as at 31
December 2023 and 2022, having regard to the market conditions of
the Group’s products. These assets were used in the Group’s Software
Business segment. The review led to the recognition of an impairment
loss of approximately HK$6,638,000 (2022: HK$NIl) for certain products
of computer and mobile phone software that have been recognised
in other gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
management reviewed total cash inflows generated to the Group
from these products for the year and noted limited cash inflow was
contributed to the Group by these products. As these products were
no longer expected to generate any future economic benefits for the
Group, the carrying amount of these intangible assets was impaired
during the year.

RS M IR 5E

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

(Ol

23. BEEE (@)
BEZ =R HF+A=+—HILE
FE RERCHEERANIEHEER R RBER
REFEENHAZ -
B R B B I ORI S AR A T

. — S 1t

RERAEEERNTRE AEER 2=
FRIZEZZHF+ZRA=+—HBRNESKEK
i @aﬁ”#%%ﬁ}zz{&ﬁ@TW@ﬁ%ﬁo?&v
ERRAEENSREEBE DD Lt BRE
FREME RS EFRTERNREBEADN
6,638,000 T (CB2 - —F : B#HT)  ENEBE
TR CF+ A=+ —HIEFEENEMEBRD
B -EEECRNAFEZSERATERS
FHIREMALE T IBIZEERADTER
BRNIBERABR HRZEEREHTER
REEBREMRRKENm FALZEREE
ENREERFRLIREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A1 #5 8RR Mt 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

HE

—— =

. ——

CLETAIm)

24,

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

RHBABNKRE

FH"A=1+—HILFE

KBS+ =A=+—0  IEHEFNE
$E BERBEZNBATNEENT

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary [;rm ﬁgf I?al entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
HRAR L
B REEM/ ERTREERE/ FrEgRE/ RrE/
WE AR A EEERTR A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Lucky Famous Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% -%  Investment holding
(“Lucky Famous”) limited liability company
Lucky Famous Limited RERZHEE IREBERIET REZK
(MLucky Famous ) (EBEREHE) /
AREALH
Jade Fore Group Limited BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% -%  Investment holding
limited liability company
Jade Fore Group Limited EBRYHE/ 1REERIET REER
BREFAH
Citi Profit Holdings Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% %  Investment holding
limited liability company
Citi Profit Holdings Limited HERUEHE/ 1REERIET REER
AREALH
Citi Profit Finance Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 -% 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
BEMBERAR &5/ BREFTAT REBRIET gRex
Perfect Growth Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 -% 100%  Securities investment
(“Perfect Growth”) limited liability company
EFERAE (1£8) &5/ BREFTAT REBRIET HHRE
Supreme Right Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 -% 100%  Provision of management
Development Limited limited liability company service
ERERERAR &5/ BREFTAT REBRIET REBERE
Apperience Corporation Cayman Islands/ 20,666,667 ordinary shares of -% 50.5%  Inactive
(“Apperience”) limited liability company US$20,667
Apperience Corporation BERE /EREFAT 20,606,667 A% & 18 %20,667% 7T BREE
(T Apperience 1)
Imidea Limited Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 % 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
Imidea Limited &5/ BREFAT 10 EER10E T BERBEREUR
RETERES
[Obit Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 % 65.177%  Inactive
limited liability company
I0bit Limited HBEYEHE/ REERIET LEgg
AREALH
Both Talent International Limited ~ Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 -% 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
ERBERBRAR &8/ BEREAAT 10K EBRI0ET BERHERHT R
RETERES

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

i

RS M IR 5E

BE_ B =—F+_RA=1+—HILFE
BTN

24,

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,

RZE_-=

KRB ARKRE (8)

F+ZA=+—80 IBXELEN

assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are as follows: *xBE BEHABBEZNBABINGEBAOT | (@
(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
AR,
ERASHE BETRERRE/ PRk ®AE
WEARRE EEERTR A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 -% 100%  Provision of corporate
Limited limited liability company management solutions and
|.T. contract services
HERR (BR) ARAF 574 10,000 & 10,0007 RECEERRRANRR
AREALH BARRANRS
GET Financial Group (International)  BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% -%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
BREHEE @R BRAT  RBEUHE/ RERRIZT RERR
BREFAH
Profit Support Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% -%  Investment holding
limited liability company
ARBERAT HBEYEHE/ 10,0008 & #&AR10,000% T REER
AREALH
GET Development Limited Hong Kong/ 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 -% 100%  B2C Online Sales Platform
limited liability company and B2B Product Trading
Business
BREEERAT &8/ 1008 BB MR100 7T BoCHE LHETAR
AREALH BBEREBZEH
Zhiyi Trade Development The People’s Republic of Registered capital of US$1,000,000 -% 100%  Provision of management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd China (‘The PRC")/ (Paid up USSNIl) (note i) service
wholly foreign owned
enterprise )
BRERER (R ARAE  PEARANE (HE) /  #fEA1,000000%7T RUBERE
(B &) SEEERE [BHZTET) (W)
City Dragon Global Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% -%  Investment holding
. limited liability company
AR A RAF HBEYEHE/ 10,0008 & #&AR10,000% T REER
AREALH
City Dragon (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 -% 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
i (&8 BRAF & 10,0008 & ##210,000E 7T i
BREFAH
Sure Team Limited BW/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% %  Investment holding
limited liability company
ERERAT HBEYEHE/ 10,0008 & #&AR10,000% T REER
AREALH
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24. HHBATNKRE (@
Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results, RIZE=F+"B=1+—H FEXZE

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

R BEHEBZWMBABNFBOT

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
i o
ERASHE BETRERRE/ PRk ®AE
WEARRE EEERTR A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Sure Team (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 -% 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
TR (B8 BRAF & 10,0008 & #10,000E 7T gRex
BREFAH
Boom Max International Limited BW/ 100,000 ordinary shares of % 65.177%  Investment holding
limited liability company US$100,000
Boom Max International Limited ~ RBRZEE/ 100,0008% B4 1% 100,000% ¢ REER
AREALH
Profit Winner International BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% -%  Investment holding
Corporation limited liability company
Profit Winner International RBERELES/ REBRIET REER
Corporation BREAAH
Service Winner Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 % 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Service Winner Limited &8/ REERIET BEEE
AREALH
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited  BVI/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 -% 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited EBRZEE,/ 1008 B BR100% T gRex
BREFAH
Million Worldwide Investment BW/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 % 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
Million Worldwide Investment EREUHE/ 1008 BB 100% 7T REER
Limited BEREFAH
Talent Vision Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 -% 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Talent Vision Limited & REBRIET BEEE
BREFAH
Note (i): B 5 () -
On 19 August 2019, the Group established a wholly owned subsidiary, 25 5 &I, RIS —ﬂfﬁl\ﬁ +hB > AERRFERI—EEE
in the PRC with registered capital of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HEAT S5 R FMEA%A1,000,000E 7T EE

HK$7,760,000). At 31 December 2023, the Group has not yet injected capital into 497,760 OOO/%TD) RWZ2_=F+"A=+—H"=&

=5 R . Pursuant to the articles of association of £ 5 %3, the capital shall be ERETRBE ZRINFE - RIBEE SRz AR ERHH
injected to &5 5 /&Il within thirty years from the date of its establishment. A EAEEEMIHERE=1TFEREEZFIEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETTAIm)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24, PHBATIRIRE (&)
TRETEANAEETSBEANIEERER
(TIEEERRAE ) B AT B R - BB RBE
SNSRI S

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company
eliminations.

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2023 2022
—EZ= T TF
Principal place of business/country of FEE M Hong Kong/ Hong Kong/
incorporation AR IR BVI BVI
oy B/
EBELES HEBELEHE
% of ownership interests/voting rights IEER RIS ERE 34.82% 34.82%
held by NCI i,/ RARE DL
Financial information is MEBERHEEWT -
disclosed as follows:
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
At 31 December: n+_A=+—Q1:
Non-current assets ERBEE 109,608 113,817
Current assets MENEE 30,630 30,296
Current liabilities mEBE (15,246) (10,488)
Non-current liabilities IEREBEE (18,085) (16,974)
Net assets BEZE 106,907 116,651
Accumulated NCI IR R 37,225 40,618

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24. HHBATNKRE (@
Boom Max Group
Boom Max% B
2023 2022
—EZ= B4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Year ended 31 December: HEt+ZB=1+—HILFE":
Revenue A 81,847 85,770
Profit for the year FRiEF] 5,474 18,695
Total comprehensive income 2E W R AERE 5,474 18,695
Profit allocated to NCI BN FIEEREmR AT 1,906 2,323
Dividends paid to NCI BT FIEERERNREE (5,256) (5,258)
Net cash generated from operating activities RS EEFTIS IR EIRRE 70,265 17,385
Net cash used in investing activities KREZHFTAREFE (43,086) (46,856)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE FrA) FriSIRE 358
financing activities (15,256) 20,257
Net increase/(decrease) BEMREEEY
in cash and cash equivalents ®m, Cel) BE8 11,923 (9,214)
25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 25, FEBHMEEBREUATEEYRNE
AhE E
2023 2022
== B CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Unlisted investment, at fair value ELHEE BAFE 1,013 1,040
Analysed as: PAUTIES
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,013 1,040

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

26.

27.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one of the equity securities
investments was delisted on the Stock Exchange and was reclassified
as unlisted investments. The fair value of which is estimated by using
index return method by an independent professional valuer at the end of
reporting period. Financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, fair value loss of approximately
HK$27,000 (2022: loss of HK$27,000) have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve (non-recycling).

RS M IR 5E

HE_Z_=—Ft+_F=1+—HIFE
BTN

25, FBHMEEWEUAATFEETIRNE
MEE ()

BE_Z2_—F+"A=+—HLFE —ER
FEFKRERBFAEUE EH T ERDEEI L
TRE-RREAR HATEER—RBUE
EEEMEABHOREEE -BBAMEE
TUATFEETIERNEREELBTTIE

BE_Z=F+"B=+—HLFE REM
2EWRPHER R FEERBEN27,0008T (Z
T4 E51827,000%8 D) MR B BG4S
RRs (RATEIE) o

INVENTORIES 2. =&
2023 2022
—EC=F ZEITHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Finished goods SR 13 1,290

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

27. BHREMEWKRIE

2023 2022
—EC=F TETTF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 AR 10,097 16,307
Less: loss allowance (note 27(b)) A BEEE (H5E27(0) (114) (5,027
9,983 11,280
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBASIE 7S R EMERFIE

(note 27(d)) (MtzE27(d)) 1,507 14,481
Amounts due from brokers PR AR 42 7R IE 166 2,435

Amounts due from non-controlling interests of e — R K A B FE AR R YRR IE
a subsidiary (note 27(e)) (M=x27(e)) 88 88
Other loan receivable (note 27(f) HnpEWwER (IsE27() - -
11,744 28,284
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

uﬂ'\

BTN

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@

Ageing analysis of trade receivables (@
According to the credit rating of different customers and service

providers, the Group allows credit periods ranged from O to 90

days (2022: 0 to 90 days) to its trade customers and service

providers. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out

in note 6(c).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for
impairment loss) based on due date is as follows:

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

27. BHREMEWRRIE (&)

B 5 BUCRTRBVIRES DT

RIBETEEL RIRFFHERNESTHR
SERATHESRL KRB HEENE
BHNTFOER (ZE - :0F90AH) °
BRAEBEERRNE— P BN
£16(c)°

N2 B R A R O FE W AR TR M R AR BR
B EBERNEEREZARERR-

B 5 BURR (ORI E IR H) RIRE
HARPVBREG DATIN T ¢

2023 2022

—E=F BT F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Not due RBIHA 9,004 10,170

Less than 1 month past due B DF1ER 255 653

1 to 3 months past due HHR1E3E A 581 286
More than 3 months but less than 12 months #1838 831 3 B/ L1288

past due 137 169

Over 12 months past due BHIBBE12(E AR 6 2

979 1,110

9,983 11,280

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b)
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment

loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see note 4(u)).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews trade

receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and
collective basis.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

B 5 AR TRBVRE

BB S EWIRRBBEBREREA

SRECER > PRIF A E B E MU DR IBRI AT 5E
MARR EZBERT HEGBERGEEN
H Z USRI (RMEE4U) ©

RERER > *EEES E 5 EUWIRMR
BEER R E!

BB o

R PE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c)

(d)

RS M IR 5E

BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

27. BHREMEWRRIE (&)

Currency denomination of trade receivables () BEEWIRMENEN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are AEEEZRIGRANREEU TG
denominated in the following currencies: HE :
2023 2022
= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
HK$ BT 254 887
us$ X7 9,506 10,155
Japanese yen (“JPY?) HE (THEL) 223 238
9,983 11,280
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (d) TEMGHRIE REREMEWE

)

Other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim
Wah Elsa

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated
13 June 2016 in relation to the acquisition of AP Group
Investment Holdings Limited (‘AP Group Investment”)
together with its subsidiaries, referred to as the (‘AP
Group”) , in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group for the period from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2017 is less than HK$16,000,000, the
vendor shall, and Universe International Holdings Limited
(now known as Universe Entertainment and Culture Group
Company Limited) (“Universe”) (stock code: 1046) shall
procure the vendor to, pay to the Group the adjustment
amount according with the formula set out in the sale
and purchase agreement (“Profit Guarantee”). The vendor
is Fragrant River which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Universe. Further details were set out in note 44(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables was
receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000 arising
from the Profit Guarantee in relation to the adjustments to
the consideration for the acquisition of AP Group during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

) FKEREHLERMELLZAME
Leresl

RERBEENERZERERAR
(TEMERZER -EREWBR

SR IENEE)) STXHBRAZ

_/\E/\ﬁ‘f’* EZ%E%WJE%’
MEHEEE-Z—XRF—HA—H
EBE_Z—tHF+"A=+—H1k
ARz KRB ZEREBES RN DR
16,000,000 75> BIE A K EFEH K
ZERBRAR GRS FIRE L
EEAERAR) BF1 BMHARK:
1046) EREEH IZE B HETH
ARAEEEZ(MHAESEE (NEF
REL) " BRFTIAEFZE2EN
BAT - BRE—FTHBERNES
B PSRRI 5E44(a) ©

BE_Z_ZTHF+_A=+—8"
FEBHNBECRE - RERHEME
WHRIEEBEBEE_E—RF+Z

B=+—HULEFEREBEEHER
PR ERB AR ST REEL
B9 &L FE U 7R IE20,400,0007 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

uﬂ'\

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

)

Other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim
Wah Elsa (continued)

As set out in note 44(a), the Group had been taking
litigation process against Fragrant River, Universe and all
relevant parties including but not limited to Mr. Chan Sze
Long and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa, the former directors of AP
Group Investment (the “AP Group Litigation”).

As at 31 December 2020, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$17,400,000 was provided for estimated
irrecoverable receivables.

On 1 February 2021, the Group entered into an agreement
of settlement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with all
relevant parties of AP Group Litigation Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, the parties have agreed to repay
HK$6,000,000 in aggregate (the “Settlement Amount”)
by installments in order to settle the AP Group Litigation.
The Group reversed provision for ECL of approximately
HK$550,000 and written off the provision for ECL of
approximately HK$14,400,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021. As at 31 December 2023, the balance
of the Settlement Amount due by Mr. Chan Sze Long and
Ms. Lim Wah Elsa were approximately HK$578,000 and
approximately HK$1,096,000 (2022: HK$860,000 and
HK$1,149,000) respectively. A reversal of allowance of
approximately HK$335,000 was made during the year.

As at 31 December 2023, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$1,674,000 (2022: HK$2,009,000) was
provided for estimated irrecoverable receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss
allowance is set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

BE_B_=F+"_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

(d) FENRIE -RERAMEWRIE (@

) Jé’ ERERIAERMER T2 A&
Hok R ()

WM EE44(a)FF 8 ZEB—EHE
IBEFKRFAARMBA (BFEEF
IEEEAF%MEH?EEEUFM*iﬁi\Eﬁ
ERKRENFEESR) LA RRA
(TEPHEMIFR) -

N_E_EF+_B=+—H'#
HEF A AT IR Bl E W TR IB B R T4
17,400,000 75 ©

NZE-_—F"F—H AE®EH
E/RE’]FﬁE% BFEETi_
DR HE TNERZED o REM
B s INEHFERERDHA
BB 5 $£6,000,000% 7T (MRS
) UNMBEBHERRR HEZ
T —F+_B=+—HLEE
AEBEBCBEREEEEREY
550,000 8 T R A TARRE E 518
BE£914,400,0008 T R B - =
F+ZBE=1t—H BREBEBIEK
M@ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ&ia@%ﬁﬁ
Bl % 49578,0003% 7T K& 491,096,000
Bt (ZE T4 1 860,0008 7T K
1,149,000 7T) c RAFEELEE
1[E149335,00058 7T ©

RWZZEZ=F+ZHA=+—H-B
PG A A YR El U R IB T R
STBE 491,674,000 T (T2 -
£ 1 2,009,000 7T) °

FEMRB-—MRA LT REBYH
BREENEORRENTHREES
B-ARMBEERNGEHNEGS
M RERMIFE6(C) °



For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

(i) Other miscellaneous receivables

As of 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables were
miscellaneous receivables which have been identified
as having a significantly elevated credit risk and have
been provided for on a specific basis. No provision for
impairment loss was made during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Amounts due from non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed
repayment terms.

Other loan receivable

The other loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy of approximately
HK$27,230,000 is unsecured, interest free and is repayable
upon demand subject to the consent of all shareholders of Jun
Yang Energy. The shareholding of the Group in Jun Yang Energy
has been diluted from approximately 35% to approximately
1.67% since 6 September 2019. Jun Yang Energy ceased to
be recognised as an associate in the consolidated financial
statements. Since then the Group reclassified the loan receivable
from an associate in respect of the loan due from Jun Yang
Energy to other receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

BTN

27. BHREMEWRRIE (&)

(d)

(e)

()

FRRIR RS R H MR IR ()

i) BMiEEERSE

BHE_Z-_=F+"A=+—8>
REFPELRIE LR EAME
WME@%%EEW]E@Wﬁﬁ
AFEBRARBELFATICHREEE
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%#%ﬁ_v__i&
S E+R=+—HItEE
T EEAEH R E RS IR o

FEL—FEIFfY /8 A B B FFHE AR M 2 7R

BRRERERR - REEEEEENN
MR o

HthFEUWER

FE W E [ BETR£927,230,00078 TR EH Mt &
RAEERP REARRERER FE
EREREEBRBERAERASIEE-BEZ
E—AFHAAHRE ZEERERBER
HIBE R B AI35% B E491.67% c BIFAE
BRI RS BRAERAHELT
Eﬁﬂ$%Eﬁg%bﬁ%hﬁﬂ§%ﬁ
HEN—BEEATNERELMEWRR
Ho

FEBMRB—RA A REBYBREE
AR EMNTRIEERER - ARMBERE
BT E RN RS BREMEE6()°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

EREmUATEEIIRNEREE

2023 2022
—ECo=F TETTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Equity securities held for trading, at fair value AT EEFENFIEEBERAEARE
Listed in Hong Kong R&EEL™T 23,124 24,036
Unlisted equity securities JE LT RR A RS 1 1
23,125 24,037

Analysed as: PMABUTIER

Current assets RENEE 23,125 24,037

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments represent listed equity securities investments that offer
the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair
value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed equity securities traded in an active market
are based on market prices at the end of reporting period. The fair
values of listed equity securities which are suspended of trading in an
active market are estimated by using the index return method by an
independent professional valuer.

Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

There is no concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets

at FVTPL because these financial assets are kept in well-established
securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

REBEEBYHFREENFON LEMEERN
REEREFEBRTUALATEEFTE-

ZERERBBREVNARAFEBEREZASTE
HERRHLREEN ETRAZSFRE HUEE
TR HRE R

RERTHEEN EHRAZHFNAFEEDE
RBERRNHE- RERDHBEEEEN LS
RAZFHATEED BB EEEEMERE
HEHEEITEE -

ZBBEEUATEEIRNEMEEBTY
&

EBEaUATEEIRNENEENEEES
hREE RACZSEMEED FRNEBES
ERAANEBFELRAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

RS M IR 5E

BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

29. BIEMRITERURRERIREEEY

2023 2022

ZE=F TECF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FHET

Cash and bank balances R& MIRTTAGER 83,342 70,592
Pledged bank deposits BIRPIRITER 634 630
83,976 71,222

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented
deposits of approximately HK$634,000 (2022: HK$630,000) which
were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities to the extent of
HK$500,000 (2022: HK$500,000) granted to the Group. The deposits
are denominated in US$. The pledged bank deposits are interest
bearing at fixed rate of 1.05% (2022: 0.45%) per annum.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had available undrawn secured
banking facilities of approximately HK$385,000 (2022: HK$304,000).

FRIBFTHRERBLUIRTEATRA KL ER
B BRI KB AR B o

RIBE_ZF+_B=+—0 ' xE£ENBERF
IRITEFUE IR FIRITHNERA%A634,0008 7T
(ZTZT 4 : 630,000 7T) » (EAAREBERE
5 #500,00078 7T (ZZ = =4 : 500,000/ 1) iR
TREER TERUETIE BIRBRITER
REEEFE1.05E (CE 4 :045[F) 5t B o

A B CE+ A=+ AEENTHA
KRIEEA EIFIRITRIE 4 A385,0008 7T (&
T4 1 304,00087T) ©

The pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the AEENBIERRTERUARRERIREEEY
Group are denominated in the following currencies: UG HESIME !

2023 2022
—E=H TETITHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
us$ E7T 67,387 56,539
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR TAR) 2,243 3,356
HK$ BT 13,570 10,551
Euro Bl 776 776
83,976 71,222

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances and pledged bank deposits
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$2,051,000 (2022: HK$3,141,000) were kept in banks in the
PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

A B =FE+ZH=+—H> zts%@u)\
REIENRTESRLERFRETEROS
2,051,000 70 (Z 2= Z 4 : 3,141,000 7T) E?%
B R BERIRTT o I AR R INEBIR I R
B SN B IR AR R A5 BB B E R (T E B IR T
130
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

HE-Z =

CLETAIm)

30. B REMEMRIA

FH"A=1+—HILFE

2023 2022

—E-=F TETTF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Trade payables B EMIRR 862 2,335
Accrued expenses and other payables FESTE A R HEMEIRIE 6,700 5,438
7,562 7,773

(@

Ageing analysis of trade payables

The ageing analysis of trade payables,

@

based on the date of

B 5 B IRRBVIRES DA

g5 BARTIRBEWERE & R#% B 8K

receipt of goods/services, is as follows: BRECOMTUNT !
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Less than 3 months DRSEA 222 1,346
More than 3 months but less than 12 months Ba3mEAaAELR12EA 640 989
862 2,335
(b) Currency denomination of trade payables (b) BHEMRRINEREEN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are AERESGEMNRRNEmAERUTEE
denominated in the following currencies: HIfE :
2023 2022
—E-= B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHET
Us$ ET 769 1,043
HK$ BT 93 1,292
862 2,335
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E

BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. S8R
2023 2022
—E-=F TETTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Billings in advance of performance obligation BROEEANR

— |.T. contract services —ERREEORY 561 1,559
— Sale of goods —tHEEMm 225 225
786 1,784

Contract liabilities relating to I.T. contract services are balances due
to customers under |.T. contract services. These arise if advance
payment was made by customers before the Company recognises
the I.T. contract services. Contract liabilities relating to contract for
sale of goods are mainly progress payment made by customers under
contracts for B2B Product Trading business.

The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 was mainly
due to less advance payment from customers in relation to renewal of

fixed price contracts.

Movements in contract liabilities:

BB S ORFEMN SO ERREBEER
B AaNRGENERNER - HEAREAE
ERENR RS ORBA I FECRE A g
RAdE R - HHEERENBERNENEaEE
ERERREBBERBSEFSNIFLNEE
(R

BNEBER _E_=F+"B=+—HRLH=E
z.ftiﬁalmfﬁﬁmn’]”& 1% A BTE ORI
Fﬁtﬁ“

GHREEE :

2023 2022
—E=H BT F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Balance at 1 January W—B—R#&8R 1,784 1,871
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HEANESDREATStASH
recognising revenue during the year was included BRIBA
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the EPENaEAD
period (1,209) (1,386)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of biling in  FAE R S AR TR
advance of I.T. contract services BHEHNEEEM 211 1,299
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—B#8x 786 1,784

The amount of bilings in advance of performance received that is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year is
approximately HK$129,000 (2022: HK$349,000).

WHNBHOEMNREE Bt R B8R —F%
BRAWA) 4975129,0008 T (T2 -
349,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32.

33.

BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2022, the borrowings represented loans from financial
institutions. The loan was unsecured, bearing interest at 12% per
annum and repayable within one year. The carrying amount of the
borrowings were denominated in HK$. The borrowings were arranged
at fixed interest rates and exposed the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. All borrowings were fully repaid during the year ended 31
December 2023.

LEASE LIABILITIES

HE

TR —F+_RA=1+—HILFEE

CLETAIm)

32. f&sk

RIBZ"F+ZA=+—H BREREER
HBHNER ERABIEH RERNF12%E
W FER —EFAEE - BRI EREER A TIIE
BERZEEFN X B A< EHHEATE
EFXRER-BE_Z_=F+_F=+—HL
FEMABMESHEE

33. HEAE

Present value of minimum

Minimum lease payments lease payments
RIEHESHR RIEHEEARNRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EZ=F BT CE —EC=HE “ECCE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET FTET THET
Within one year —FR 635 315 592 313
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —E L EBRBBME 292 4 287 4
927 319 879 317
Less: Future finance charges AR (48) () - -
Present value of lease obligations HEBKZRE 879 317 879 317
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 A - 12188 W EI S ERIE (R
months (shown under current liabilities) BEaRETIT) (592) 313)
Amount due for settlement after 2B B &g ERE
12 months 287 4

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 33 HE&E®@
All lease payables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. AR B RIEL ST EHE o
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease AEBRBESEEANNET(GIEEERTFX
liabilities of the Group range from 3.64% to 7.80% (2022: from 3.62% NFB.64EZET.80E (ZTZ "4 | 3.62EE3.64
to 3.64%). E) °
34. DEFERRED TAX 34. REMIE
(a) Deferred tax liabilities (@ EERIEEE
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the UTRAKRERRINIELERIBEERS
Group:
Intangible
assets
BEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2022 N B _F—HF—H 16,971
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) HiBmINkR (BsE14(a) 1,806
At 31 December 2022 and ‘é:;::EEJr—E =+—Hk
1 January 2023 —E=%—A—H 18,777
Credit to profit or loss (note 14(a)) st ABm (iEE14() (695)
At 31 December 2023 A _E_=F+"HA=+—H 18,082
(b) Deferred tax assets (b) IEERIEZE
At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused RBEREHEFR AEBBEXRTARES
tax losses of approximately HK$324,218,000 (2022: 1849324,218,0008 T (ZE -
HK$310,991,000) available for offset against future profits. No 310,991,000/ 7t) > A IKEH R A EF] o
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward has HRAEEREETBRNREMNRIE K
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future profit WL AS SR B BRI AIEIE IR 1B
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of BE AEIRREGSEEEBRNRBELESE
approximately RMB771,000 (equivalent to HK$914,000) (2022: ERAIERIIHNG ARE771,0007T (18
RMB721,000 (equivalent to HK$869,000)) that will expire within E150914,0008m) (ZTEZ2F: AR
5 years from the year of originating. Other tax losses may be 721,0007T (18 & #2869,00078 7T) ) FIES1E o
carried forward indefinitely. HiRIER B ] IR HRAA & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

BTN

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. &#
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SKREE RirEE =5
HK$ '000 HK$'000
BT T FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares TR
At 1 January 2022, ‘E\ZEZZEE—E—EI .
31 December 2022, TET"F+"RH
1 January 2023 and =+—B-Z2=%
31 December 2023 —BA—HERIZBZ=fF
+-B=+—H 0.01 80,000,000 800,000
Issued and fully paid: ERETRER
Ordinary shares ZiEK
At 1 January 2022, RIZ2EZZF—HF—8-
31 December 2022, —_E__&F#+°"AH
1 January 2023 and —+—B-Z2Z=F
31 December 2023 —A—HERIBRZ=fF
+=-B=+—H 0.01 444,448 4,444

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard

to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between higher shareholder returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement
as to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debts is defined
as total debts (which includes borrowings, trade and other payables
and amount due to a subsidiary, which is applicable). Equity comprises
share capital and reserves.

During 20283, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a debt-to-equity
ratio at not more than 45% (2022: 45%). In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

HE

RS M IR 5E

TR —F+_RA=1+—HILFEE

CLETTAIm)

35.

2023
g =

HK$’000
FERT

ez (48)

FEREEEAT RS EMREREBNFERE
fES BB EEARKTHENER KRB EBEU
RAZREEMARISRE MA@ ESRRS
PNEIEE

REMBR I E R R EEEE AR LU
RS ETRK T Rl AE 76 2R B S 1 2 AR BR[O $R F2 Y
BRAE TR IAHRAE @ K RE 2 BT
> WA H IR IR B SR Y B A ZRAR (R L I i o

FEBRFIABDZREEHREEIERAEERRH
BAAEE Bt ERBEHF AR EREHRE
(BB TR~ B 5 oo EL M FE 3 RRIE K FE 15 — R Bt
BRBMIE WMER)) - B EERAE R

RIZI=F AEEENNKRBAEREE
HEREERNBIBIS% (T _F 1 45%) 8
KF o BRFRF[EZLE  AEMABEHRK
HRAHRESBE - BITHMRMD AREZES
I EENETREREEEELURE

The Group
mEEH

The Company
AT
2023 2022
—E=F - -5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHTT

2022
—ECCF
HK$'000
FHET

Debts &%
Equity e
Debt-to-equity ratio BEHEELEE

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report
from the share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the
25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2023, approximately
25% (2022: 25%) of the shares were in public hands.

35,590

180,865

20%

36,895 24,353 61,971

204,280 71,021 35,031

18% 34% 177%
KRB REEAWBERRLEZ INTEMBE L

FREFTARPR

W BECREALAERBREBBED25%A
BIF R E AR E R B A2 FTGEMAY L (i o 2K
EHSEBERCEBFELERTIERGER
FrEHERIEFARERENRE  RIENFR—
BHETERBWREARE - R_E=F+"A4
=+—H 425% (T - _F 1 25%) RMHEAA
FATER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a)

Statement of financial position of the Company

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

36. FARMBRRRREFHEEES)

@ HRAEMBRRE

2023 2022
—E=HF B CHF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
(g FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB KRS 8 -
Investments in subsidiaries RHBABNKRE 234 234
242 234
Current assets MBEE
Prepayments and deposits BEINEREN S s 932 235
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS I B A B 7 52,376 54,521
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 41,824 42,012
95,132 96,768
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Accrued expenses and other payables FE(S & R e
EOrE| 3,750 3,361
Amounts due to subsidiaries B ABRIE 20,603 58,610
24,353 61,971
Net current assets REBEFE 70,779 34,797
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERTEBEE 71,021 35,031
NET ASSETS BEFE 71,021 35,031
Capital and reserves B K E
Share capital B& 4,444 4,444
Reserves G 36(b) 66,577 30,587
TOTAL EQUITY BN 71,021 35,031
Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2024 and are KEFEN _ T _NE=F _+_HitE

signed on its behalf by:

Wong Jing Shong

==y
HIFF
Director

EE

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

WHUTEEAREE

Lau Siu Cheong
EAPIg=
Director

EFE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b)

BB HRRME

BE_B_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
BTN

u‘7|'\

36. KXARMBRRKKREFHEEE (B)

37. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

Reserve movements of the Company b) EAFHEEESD
Share Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
RiniEE BRREG Zitie EeH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FTET BT
At 1 January 2022 _E__F#—A—H 517,181 988,713 (1,449,602 56,292
Loss and total comprehensive income ZISEEES}E&EEHQE%E@E
for the year - - (25,705) (25,705)
At 31 December 2022 and g giiﬁﬂ‘*ﬂ =+—H
1 January 2023 R=—Z-=F—H—H 517,181 988,713 (1,475,307) 30,587
Profit and total comprehensive income FEERN REERERE
for the year = = 35,990 35,990
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+"A=+—H 517,181 988,713 (1,439,317) 66,577
37. f#fE
Group @ *H&EH
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein AEBRFEREEHTHENGAER K
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and teERaAREAGSEREEHRET -
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
Nature and purpose of reserves (b) FEENEEREN

)

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds
in the share premium account of the Company may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference
between the nominal value of share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the shares
of the Company issued in exchange thereof pursuant to a
reorganisation scheme in 2002; and (i) the credit arising
from capital reorganisations of the Company in previous
years.

0 BR17 a8

REBEBRE—NN—FRAFE XK
NERDBEBEBERAT U BALIR S
Dilke

i)  EEE

BEHEGEIN _ZZ_FREEQR
STEIFTEEM B A MR AE E R
A E) 2 AT TR AR EE Y
E8 RFABDNBEFEEARSE
MHEERERR-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

37. RESERVES (continued)

38.

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Contributed surplus (continued)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
contributed surplus account is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

— the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in note
4(k).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(d).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to

grant options to either directors or employees of the Group in order

to recognise and motivate their contribution, to provide incentives and
to help the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting

additional employees by providing them with a direct economic interest
in attaining the long term business objectives of the Group. The share
option scheme was approved by the shareholders in an annual general
meeting on 13 June 2017 and adopted on 15 June 2017.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

37. {#fE @
b) HEENEEREN @)
-7 7 )

REBRE-NAN—FREE B
BEFRIRPIH D IR T IR © 22T > fiH
BLELTER AEREFEEIK
FIKTRE  HEEBHEGFTIEY
ik

—  FAREREBERTIRGERE
FEEHTEEE

- ARBEENTULREET
KNERELOHREBERH
BETRANLRM EER
By#BAN -

(i)  REELEE

RESEHREEERREHARER
BB B E fth 2 E W U A FEET
RNEHEENRIRATEELS
PR WIRIRI AP 8L E SHEUER
BRI

i) EREEE

AEMPER#E BT EIRMNE
EEBYBREELNMAINEE
B8 o Z A BRI N EE4(d) PR 8 & 5T
RERHE

38. UBR{RAEREIZ (T

BREEINENAEELBDRAEERERIE
ERTERE USERHEBKRE ZE/M 2MH
REUREFERRBHRAEERBEES
BE REFNEBERAEEANRAEHEERRE
HERCEN @ - BREAIN -1t &<A
TZHRRBFAGERRMERN —F—C
FRBTHEEERM-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

38.

39.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting may at any time
terminate the operation of the share option scheme and in such event
no further options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions
of the share option scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior to such
termination.

No option was granted under the share option scheme up to date of
approval of this report.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme
vest immediately. As at 31 December 2023, there were no forfeited
contributions available to reduce future obligation.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central pension
scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of
this subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.

RS M IR 5E

HE—S-=&H+-A=t+—HIEE
GBI
38. LR AERNZST @)

39.

ERB I RER I IRRAE LB BREREILEF
BRESE RZBERT HASRZAMBER
MR PTA Bt s E - RS BIRRER
M BER AR AR THEMBRENITE
EMBLE

BEEAREMEZR
fEaRE -

R RS R

REHIRAKETE
NEBRRIBEES B LG F4855 14 E AR 5TE
& B2 REGASENERERFREIEATE
&5t 8l (aEEstE)) -aBEtE L —BHSE
UZFEAEENREEH-FTRAKE - RIBARES
E BREMEBESBMTERESSRBBA
5% H > 1S B AR AR LR #A30,0007
TCo AL ETBIFFEME IR B - N ST =
+ZA=+—H SEIUWERAHBL R KB
fEo

ZEE B R B AR ST Y B B A BRI (B B 233 5 T
FEENTREES NS %M BABER
EEEEHERIENETAN LATREES
SRR RRARENES - 5 H B AR
EIEZM B AR A RA RARRRIKES BRI
BHEFE -ZMBABLFREESTEIRME—
BEERRESEFHPARMHR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

BE_ZE_=F+_B=1+—HIFE

COETE

7y

40. HFAEREREBRME

CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () mEIHBFELEBREZHIR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFNMAEEREETDES 2 BEEH
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash (BIERESKRIFRSET) -MEFTHESE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for ZEBEARSREEHARKRERERN
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in AEMGERERERDTBAMEZEAM
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BREREZEBE
from financing activities.
1 January Interest 31 December
2023 Addition Termination  Cash flows expenses 2023
ZEZ=H
ZEC= +=8
—A—H RE ik RERE FHERZ =t-H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET THET THET TR FET
Borrowings (note 32) B (EE32) 600 - - (600) - -
Lease liabilities (note 33) TAEAE (:33) 317 1,169 - (655) 48 879
917 1,169 = (1,255) 48 879
1 January Interest 31 December
2022 Addition  Termination Cash flows expenses 2022
B CF
“ECCE +2A8
—R—H HE 1k Renre FISHZ =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET TERT THET THT T
Borrowings (note 32) & (i5k32) 1,267 - - (667) - 600
Lease liabilties (note 33) HEAE (E33) 1,218 - (84) (843) 26 317
2,485 = (84) (1,510) % 917
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_E_—F+_A=+—RALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 40. FEHRERERMTE @)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases b) FHEEZRERHLEZE

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for SIAGEREREREMBEEZSERE

leases comprise the following: THIRIE !

2023 2022
—E-=F TETTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Within operating cash flows REREREN 300 361

Within financing cash flows MERETREN 607 817

Lease rental paid BffE 907 1,178

(c) Major non-cash transactions © FEFREXRS

0] During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group i) RE&EE_Z=F+"F=+—H
received dividends from listed securities which were EFE - ANEEB EHESUEAR
settled by 1,400 (2022: 666) ordinary shares of this listed B ZERELUZ ETATIA,4008%
company at market value of approximately HK$197,000 (T4 : 666/%) LEREE
(2022: HK$153,000) and was included in financial assets MEA#197,0008 7T (CTEZ2F
at FVTPL. 153,000787T) » W st AE BB U A

FEETRNSREE-

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group iy HEE =F+Z“A=+—H
entered into a lease agreement for the use of office Jtifyi ZIS%IE*M@%#J#’&%%@
premise for 2 years. On the lease commencement, the FT U ERE -NHEMAE &
Group recognised approximately HK$1,169,000 of right- EERERFEAEEEL,169,0008
of-use assets and approximately HK$1,169,000 of lease TR E & (E41,169,00078 7T
liabilities.

41. COMMITMENTS 41, KIE

Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows: R EFERNERFRBEUWT :
2023 2022
—ED=F TETTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Contracted but not provided for: BRI AEREME

— development costs for intangible assets —EBREENRERAR 41,583 43,125
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RS M IR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42,

43.

44,

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises
and B2C online platforms. As at 31 December 2023, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed in note 21.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding lease commitments
relating to these short-term leases is approximately HK$17,000 (2022:
HK$204,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than the outcome of litigations as disclosed in note 44, as at 31
December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2022: Nil).

LITIGATIONS

(@ AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation
to, among other matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest
in AP Group Investment (“Acquisition”) and the announcements
of the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16
July 2018 in relation to the adjustment to consideration for the
Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(“SP Agreement”) with Fragrant River (“Vendor”) and Universe
(“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 51%
equity interest of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of
HK$20,400,000, subject to downward adjustments as described
below, which shall be settled by way of allotment and issued of
40,800,000 new ordinary shares of the Company, credited as
fully paid, at the issue price of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor
(or its nominee), on the date of completion. The AP Group was
principally engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-
enhancement training programmes in Hong Kong. Completion of
the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.

BRIEREIRAT 20235F5R
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A CE—REANBTZH AREREK
B/ABLucky FamousBi & T (& H)) RE
F(MERADTL—HEEWHE (BEH
E) OB AERARGRRIKEME
FHEBHEREHESHERERNS1%E
1 > 018 420,400,00038 75 (A 3% T X Pt
ETTH) o EBR ST H R ER0.50
Bz TE BEH (TEALBA) BHE
T2 £%1740,800,0000 A BRFIVEBE 2 A
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EstE - WBEER _S—REtHA—
H5ERE



For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP
Agreement, in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group Investment attributable to its owners from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017”)
(which would only include income or gain generated by activities
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the AP Group)
(“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than HK$16,000,000, the
Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure the Vendor to,
pay to the Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment amount
(“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment
for FY2016 & 2017 (“FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”)
are available. The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in
accordance with the formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%

Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY2016 &
2017 Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be
zero.

The FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY2016 &
2017 Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited,
adjusted for any non-recurring items.

Based on the FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall
be deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group had requested
the Vendor and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000 on or before 26 June 2018 according to the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. On 22 June 2018,
the Group received a letter from the legal adviser acting for the
Vendor and the Guarantor that they will defend the purported
claim of the Group for the payment of the Adjustment Amount
alleged by the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR 5E

H= =+ A=t+—AILEE
(L(/ﬁTﬁ'J/T\)
44. :R:h (48)

(@) EHUWEERD (@)

REEEHENERRESF MRS
—RNE—B—BE_ZE—tE+_8
=+ B(ZE—RUERZE—tH
F)) BHERERESABGESEZ
RERREBRN (REQENREHERLT
%&Eﬁ%‘*uﬂﬂm,@jﬁﬁﬁ;ﬂw&z)\
Fs) (ZTE—MERZE—tHF
R TE.EH’:WG,OOO,OOOF%E =D A=k
BRARREEACEHAERZERNR S
—ANHERZE—tUELEZEETE
Bk (T2 MERIZ—tUELSE
ZERB ) FI& %+ B ARLUERE ELucky
Famous (SNiRIEEIES) ZTREEEE (I
B - AESBEERUTFHANE

= .

T
A = 20,400,000 7T — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%
He:
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ER_E—ARUER_E—tHELEZ
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REEEWHR ENER_S— X MER
B t%ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁW“W%tﬁﬁ
BEEEREARERARZIS—N\FRA
_+AE%Zm&EEE%m%Mm&ﬁ
(AR S E20,400,0008 T R &
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and
the Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY2016
& 2017 Audited Accounts were made available to them, the
Group had not received any payment of the Adjustment Amount
from any of the Vendor and the Guarantor.

The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
potentially breached their contractual obligations by failing to
repay the Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of the Group, after seeking
legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding (‘AP
Acquisition Litigation”) against the Vendor as the 1st defendant
and the Guarantor as the 2nd defendant. A writ of summons with
an indorsement of claim were filed by Lucky Famous as plaintiff
at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group claimed against
the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount of
HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were
filed at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong on 26 September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the
Group claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the
Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs;
and (d) further and/or other relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze
Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (‘Lim”) for () damages in
the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests; (g) costs; and (n) further
and/or other relief (collectively, the “Legal Action”). The Board
considered that Chan and Lim, who are the former directors of
AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on 18
July 2018, have potentially breached their duties and obligations
in contract and tort by failing to, amongst other things,
prepare audited consolidated financial statements of AP Group
Investment for the year ended 31 December 2015, provide the
auditors of AP Group Investment with the written information that
they requested to support their audit, and keep and/or preserve
adequate accounting records in respect of the transactions
entered into by AP Group Investment, its financial position and its
financial performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(a)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy Limited (“Very Easy”), a company wholly
owned by Chan, and City Link Consultancy Limited (“City Link”),
a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of any
liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved and
entered into a settlement agreement (“Settlement Agreement”)
in relation to the final and full settlement of the Disputes (as
defined below). In accordance with the Settlement Agreement,
the parties agreed that (i) the disputes in the Legal Action;
and (i) any other claims and complaint that the parties to the
Settlement Agreement may have against each other arising out
of or in connection with SP Agreement in respect of the sale and
purchase of 510 shares of AP Group Investment entered into by
and among the Vendor, Very Easy, City Link, Chan and Lim in
2015 and the SP Agreement (collectively, the “Disputes”) shall be
settled in full.

In accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, (i)
the Vendor and the Guarantor shall pay to the Group a sum
of HK$1,500,000 at the time of signing of the Settlement
Agreement in full and final settlement of the Disputes; (i) Chan
shall pay to the Group a sum of HK$2,700,000 in full and final
settlement of the Disputes, by paying (a) a sum of HK$1,300,000
at the time of signing of the Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum
of HK$23,500 per month for 59 months starting from 1 March
2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a final sum of HK$13,500
on or before 1 February 2026; (i) Lim shall pay to the Group a
sum of HK$1,800,000 in full and final settlement of the Disputes,
by paying (a) a sum of HK$200,000 at the time of signing of the
Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$26,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and
(c) a final sum of HK$36,500 on or before 1 February 2026; and
(iv) within 7 days of the date of the Settlement Agreement, Lucky
Famous or its legal representatives shall file at the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong a consent summons
for discontinuing the Legal Action with no order as to costs. The
Group shall be entitled as of right to take immediate legal action,
including commencing bankruptcy proceedings without further
notice if Chan and/or Lim fail(s) to make full and timely payment
of any of the instalment(s) under (ii) and (i) above.

On 16 February 2021, the High Court of Hong Kong granted an
order by consent that, amongst others, Lucky Famous would
have leave to discontinue the Legal Action against the Vendor,
the Guarantor, Chan and Lim.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018,
16 July 2018 and 1 February 2021.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP
Group Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons
in the High Court of Hong Kong against Chan as the 1st
defendant and Lim as the 2nd defendant (collectively refer to
as the “Defendants”) for the matters as detailed below (‘AP
Management Litigation”). Chan and Lim are former directors
of AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on
18 July 2018. Chan and/or his controlled company, and the
controlled company of Lim, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest
in AP Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Lucky Famous. As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group
Investment, all members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of
the Company and their financial results have been consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements prior to the
deconsolidation of the AP Group becoming effective on 1 April
2018. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision
of self-improvement and self-enhancement training programs in
Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the
Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of
the experience and expertise of the Defendants in running the
AP Group, it was agreed by the parties that the Defendants
were wholly responsible for the efficient and proper management
and operation of the AP Group, including but not limited to,
the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping proper
books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance
reports, annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group
Investment, including that of all the subsidiaries of the other
members of the AP Group to the Company within 15 days after
each month’s end. After the resignations of the Defendants as
directors of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 and up to
the date of this report, the Defendants failed to deliver up all the
accounting books and financial records of, and all businesses
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group,
including but not limited to records in relation to the students’
records, instructors’ records and information on potential
litigations, for the period of seven years immediately prior to the
date of their resignations as director of AP Group Investment on
18 July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

AP Management Litigation (continued)

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding against the Defendants. The Group claimed
against the Defendants for the reliefs, including but not limited
to, delivering up of the Full Business Records, accounting for the
assets of the AP Group for the period from 1 April 2018 to 18
July 2018 that were in the power, possession or control of the
Defendants and damages to be assessed.

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy, a company wholly owned by Chan and
City Link, a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of
any liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved
and entered into a Settlement Agreement in relation to the final
and full settlement of the Disputes. Details of the Settlement
Agreement refer to note 44(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 July 2018 and 1 February
2021,

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received an amended writ of summons (“Amended
Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court
of Hong Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities
Limited (“3rd Plaintiff’) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff
collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant (“Perfect
Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the
defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the
Amended Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged
Independent Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of
the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around October 2015 (“October
2015 Placing”) and was allotted with some shares of the 1st
Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(c)

Perfect Growth Litigation (continued)

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the
Plaintiffs against Perfect Growth are as follows:

0] the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as
against, among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment
of the 1st Plaintiff's shares to, among others, Perfect
Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is null and
void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order
for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed and/or damages to be
assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other
matters, the October 2015 Placing and the allotment of
the 1st Plaintiff’s shares pursuant to the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect
Growth (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; (d) further and/or other reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect
Growth’s defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its
reply to each of the other defendants’ defence and as such the
pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not been closed
yet.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying values of the shares of the
1st Plaintiff held by the Group were approximately HK$1,013,000
(2022: HK$1,040,000) and HK$750 (2022: HK$770) included
in financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL
respectively.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

45.

46.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with its related parties during the year.

Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of the Company and their
remuneration are disclosed in note 16.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at
least five years are entitled to long service payments in accordance
with the Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. These
circumstances include where an employee is dismissed for reasons
other than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at
the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term and
expires without renewal. Subject to the provisions of the Employment
Ordinance, the amount of LSP payable is determined with reference
to the employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from
the Group’s contributions to the MPF scheme with an overall cap of
HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The
Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May
2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25
years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a
certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after the
Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date
LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily
has no material impacts on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to
Hong Kong employees that participate in the MPF Scheme.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION
EFEMBHRE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2019, 2020,

UTARERHE_S—NE -2 _FF -
ENTEBE T TERTEC=F+_RA=+—HLEREE

[SS—
= —

2021, 2022 and 2023.

ENEHEEEUREERBERE-

RESULTS E 35
Year ended 31 December
HE+-BA=1t—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E_=fF "B fF B BIEE _"E-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT TET TEx FTAET FET
Revenue WA 92,360 106,028 114,535 231,404 369,839
(Loss)/profit from operations me (518 /5F (19,996) 2,612 6,517) (28,442 (58,570)
Finance costs B A (100) (144) (235) (98) (103)
Share of profit of an associate e —EBE A EEF) - - - - 887
(Loss)/profit before tax BIRAT (8538) R (20,096) 2,468 (6,752) (28,540) (57,786)
Income tax expenses PriMps (1,239) (3,856) @,177) (3,870) (3,894)
Loss for the year TEEHE (21,335) (1,388) (10,929) (32,410) (61,680)
Attributable to MTFALRERS
- Owners of the Company —HEATEEA (23,415) (8,059) (18,197) (39,286) (67,200)
- Non-controlling interests —JEEE AR 2,080 6,671 7,268 6,876 5,520
(21,335) (1,388) (10,929) (32,410) (61,680)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
As at 31 December
®+ZB=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TR "I fF T BT C"T-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER T FHET FEr
Total assets BEME 272,946 301,537 309,511 326,665 370,896
Total liabilties aEEE (53,672) (55,672) (57,033) (57,821) (64,320)
Non-controlling interests FEER R (38,409) (41,585) (40,172) (38,257) (36,724)
Equity attributable to KATEE AL
owners of the Company i 180,865 204,280 212,306 230,587 269,852
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